
SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
South Lakeland House, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ
www.southlakeland.gov.uk 

You are requested to attend a meeting of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
on Friday, 20 April 2018, at 2.00 p.m.

in the Bindloss Room, Kendal Town Hall

Committee Membership
Councillors

Norman Bishop-Rowe
Andrew Butcher

Brian Cooper
Nick Cotton

Shirley Evans
Anne Hall

Dyan Jones (Chairman)
Eric Morrell

Vivienne Rees
Phil Walker (Vice-Chairman)

Mark Wilson
Mary Wilson

Wednesday, 11 April 2018

Debbie Storr, Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer)

For all enquiries, please contact:- 
Committee Administrator: Jason Habbershon
Telephone: 01539 793187
e-mail: committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk

Public Document Pack

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


AGENDA

Page Nos.
PART I 

1 APOLOGIES 

To receive apologies for absence, if any.

2 MINUTES 5 - 14

To authorise the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meeting of the Committee held on 2 February 2018 (copy attached).

3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this 
agenda. 

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of Conduct, 
they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other 
registrable interests which have not already been declared in the Council’s 
Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable 
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting.)

Members may, however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable 
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as 
any other registrable or other interests.

If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration of 
interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she is advised 
to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting.

4 DECLARATION OF THE PARTY WHIP 

In accordance with Rule 17 of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules, any 
Member who is subject to a party whip on any item must declare the existence 
and nature of the whip.

5 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS 

To consider whether the items, if any, in Part II of the agenda should be 
considered in the presence of the press and public.

6 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make representations 
or present a deputation or petition at this meeting should apply to do so by no 
later than 0:01am (one minute past midnight) two working days before the 
meeting.  Information on how to make the application can be obtained by 
viewing the Council’s Website www.southlakeland.gov.uk or by contacting the 
Committee Services Team on 01539 733333.

(1) Questions and Representations
To receive any questions or representations which have been received from 
members of the public.

(2) Deputations and Petitions
To receive any deputations or petitions which have been received from 
members of the public.

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


7 COUNCIL PLAN PERFORMANCE MONITORING QUARTER 4 2017/18 15 - 50

To monitor progress against the measures of success as detailed within the 
Council Plan 2014-2019 and to consider any recommendations to be made to 
Cabinet.

8 PORTFOLIO HOLDER REPORT - FINANCE 51 - 54

To consider the annual report from the Finance Portfolio Holder on the progress 
made within the portfolio area and their plans for the future.

9 PORTFOLIO HOLDER REPORT - ECONOMY AND ASSETS 55 - 58

To consider the annual report from the Economy and Assets Portfolio Holder on 
the progress made within the portfolio area and their plans for the future.

10 DRAFT SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18 59 - 68

To consider the draft Scrutiny Annual Report 2017/18.

11 REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS AND SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATIONS 
PROGRESS REPORT 

69 - 74

To consider the annual Review of Effectiveness and an update on progress 
made by Cabinet in implementing the adopted recommendations of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

12 WORK PROGRAMME SETTING 2018/19 75 - 84

To agree the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s Work Programme for 2018/19.

13 CUMBRIA HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE UPDATE 

To receive an update on the work of the Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee 
from the Council’s representative or substitute.

PART II 

Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph number)
There are no items in this part of the agenda.



This page is intentionally left blank



35
02.02.2018 Overview and Scrutiny Committee

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Minutes of the proceedings at a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in 
the District Council Chamber, South Lakeland House, Kendal, on Friday, 2 February 
2018, at 2.00 p.m.

Present

Councillors

Dyan Jones (Chairman)
 

Norman Bishop-Rowe
Andrew Butcher

Brian Cooper

Nick Cotton
Anne Hall

Vivienne Rees

Mark Wilson
Mary Wilson

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Eric Morrell.

Officers

Simon Blyth Principal Partnerships and Communities Officer
Lawrence Conway Chief Executive
John Davies Performance and Risk Officer
Jason Habbershon Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer
Julie Jackson Principal Housing Strategy Officer
Shelagh McGregor Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer)
Simon McVey Assistant Director Performance and Innovation
Simon Rowley Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services
Helen Smith Financial Services Manager
Debbie Storr Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer)
David Sykes Director People and Places

Also in attendance were Councillors Giles Archibald (Leader of the Council and Finance 
Portfolio Holder), Jonathan Brook (Deputy Leader and Housing and Innovation Portfolio 
Holder), Philip Dixon (Public Health and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder), Brenda Gray (Council 
Organisation and People Portfolio Holder) and Graham Vincent (Economy and Assets 
Portfolio Holder).

In addition, Superintendent Rob O’Connor (Cumbria Police and Vice-Chairman of the 
South Cumbria Community Safety Partnership) was present.

O&S/51 MINUTES 

RESOLVED – That the Chairman be authorised to sign, as a correct record, the minutes 
of the meeting of the Committee held on 12 January 2018.

O&S/52 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

RESOLVED – That it be noted that no declarations of interest were raised.

Page 5

Item No.2



36
02.02.2018 Overview and Scrutiny Committee

O&S/53 DECLARATION OF THE PARTY WHIP 

RESOLVED – That it be noted that no declarations of the party whip were raised.

O&S/54 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS 

RESOLVED – That it be noted that there are no excluded items on the agenda.

O&S/55 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

RESOLVED – That it be noted that there was no public participation in respect of this 
meeting.

O&S/56 SOUTH CUMBRIA COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP 

The Public Health and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder introduced a report from the South 
Cumbria Community Safety Partnership (CSP) which provided the Committee with an 
update on current projects and future developments for 2018/19, and introduced 
Superintendent Rob O’Connor of Cumbria Police, the CSP’s current Vice-Chairman.

The Public Health and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder referred to the 2017 Quality of Life 
Survey which had shown that 90% of respondents had declared themselves satisfied with 
South Lakeland as a place to live. He emphasised that the CSP focused not only on 
tackling crime, but also on addressing the causes of crime.

Supt Rob O’Connor provided further details on the progress made by the CSP. He 
highlighted the two key priorities agreed in 2017: alcohol and violent crime/sexual 
offences and online child exploitation and staying safe. The numerous issues caused by 
drug dealing across county lines was emphasised, particularly in relation to the two key 
priorities.

Although data from the Cumbria Intelligence Observatory showed a slight decrease in 
crime across Cumbria in 2016/17, Supt O’Connor explained that it was anticipated that 
there would be a rise in 2018/19. However, whilst offences across the whole of Cumbria 
had gone up by just over 2,000 to date, South Cumbria accounted for just 250 of these. In 
Ulverston and Furness, the figures were identical to those at the same point in the 
previous year, whilst Kendal and the Lakes areas had seen a small increase of around 
seven cases per month. 

Supt O’Connor reported that South Lakeland regularly performed well in the North West 
region, with a ValuePenguin study recently finding that Ulverston was the safest town in 
the North West with a population of 20,000 to 50,000, whilst Askam-in-Furness within 
Barrow Borough was the safest in the North West within the 3,000 to 20,000 bracket.

The theft of motor vehicles, whilst increasing in 2016/17, still represented a small number 
of offences, whilst the increase in criminal damage was largely due to incidents of tyre 
slashing. The relevant offender had since been prosecuted.

Incidences of anti-social behaviour continued to decrease, and it was suggested that this 
could be due to a change in the way teenagers and young adults spent their evenings. 
Domestic abuse figures were relatively stable, and the CSP continued to work with 
partners to tackle this.

Page 6



37
02.02.2018 Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Supt O’Connor explained that the figure of 92 burglary offences in 2016/17 was extremely 
low, and expressed his pride in this achievement. The rise in sexual offences during 
2015/16 was primarily historic, resulting from Operation Tweed. The Underley Hall School 
case was now at trial.

Hate crime had increased, with around 50 incidents being reported in each of the two 
districts. Supt O’Connor explained that these figures were reported regularly to the 
Cumbria Safety Advisory Group.

Supt O’Connor drew attention to the projects currently being funded by the CSP, including 
Applied Theatre in Cumbria (ATiC), efforts to tackle rural crime and online fraud and the 
setting up of community safety hubs in Kendal and Barrow. A Kendal hub had been set up 
within Kendal Police Station; Supt O’Connor reported that the project had been a success 
so far, with good partnership links being built.

Members expressed concern regarding the high number of alcohol-related hospital 
admissions for those aged under 18 years old. Supt O’Connor explained that Barrow had 
worked with the Community Alcohol Partnership within schools, and a lot of work was 
ongoing within the rural areas of the Lake District. The ATiC project, and the CSP’s 
contribution to the Cumbria Alcohol and Drug Addiction Service (CADAS), would also 
contribute to a reduction in alcohol related crime and hospital admissions. Supt O’Connor 
reported that it had previously been difficult to get accurate and detailed health data, but 
that this had now been addressed.

The Public Health and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder referred to the recent tragic death of a 
Kendal teenager and how projects such as ATiC sought to prevent similar incidents from 
happening again. He felt that underage drinking was a symptom of wider issues which 
ATiC would seek to tackle. He expressed his frustration that efforts to prevent underage 
drinking were made more difficult by the sale of cheap alcohol by large retailers.

The importance of information sharing and partnership working between the CSP and 
Cumbria County Council was emphasised by Members. 

The Committee expressed concern at the rise in domestic abuse cases. It was suggested 
that there were cases of repeat offenders and that there had been inconsistencies in the 
reporting of figures in this area. It was suggested that the Domestic Violence Champions 
Network should be expanded through local churches and parish and town councils.

Members stressed the need for stronger anti-drug messages to reduce the massive 
financial and human cost caused by drug use. The need to identify those bringing drugs 
into the County at the time of their arrival, and not days later, was also highlighted.

It was queried why there were no statistics or detail relating to child sexual exploitation 
within the report and it was requested that this information be included within the CSP’s 
next update. Reference was made to the work carried out by Barrow Borough Council to 
educate taxi and private hire drivers to recognise signs of sexual exploitation, and enquiry 
made to a similar project being run in South Lakeland. The key priority of addressing 
online child sexual exploitation and staying safe online was welcomed. Members stated 
that this was an issue not just for the child and the school, but also for parents.

Supt O’Connor expressed his view that the CSP was working well, with the previously 
mentioned study finding UIverston to be the safest mid-sized town in the North West to be 
evidence of the group’s successes. He reiterated the importance that the CSP and 
Cumbria Police placed on domestic abuse cases, but explained that it was often difficult to 
pursue cases due to complaints being retracted in the days following an incident. In 

Page 7



38
02.02.2018 Overview and Scrutiny Committee

response to earlier comments regarding drug use problems, Supt O’Connor explained that 
the majority of cases within South Lakeland were based upon prescription pill addiction, 
with no drug deaths in the District being attributable to Class A drug use.

Supt O’Connor explained that the rise in child sexual exploitation cases was due to an 
increase in teenagers sharing explicit material, although there were efforts not to 
criminalise individuals at a young age.

The Leader and Finance Portfolio Holder thanked Supt O’Connor for his work. A number 
of issues had been raised by the Committee, and the Leader suggested that this was an 
area where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may wish to place more focus in its 
future Work Programme. The Chairman of the Committee supported this suggestion and 
undertook to speak to Supt O’Connor and the relevant Committee Members following the 
meeting. 

In response to a query regarding the increase in hate crime, Supt O’Connor explained that 
it was seen as a positive that better recording was taking place. The use of Hate Incident 
Reporting Centres outside of police stations to allow anonymous reporting had been a big 
step in ensuring that incidents did not go unrecorded. Hate crimes relating to race had 
seen the largest increase, with alcohol often having played a part.

Following a request from the Committee, Supt O’Connor undertook to provide a 
breakdown of the wards where domestic abuse incidents had taken place. He also agreed 
with a comment that both alcohol and poverty were linked to cases of domestic abuse.

In response to a query from the Committee, Supt O’Connor confirmed that work was 
ongoing to address both online and telephone fraud. Cumbria Police’s work with banks 
and building societies to help staff recognise potentially fraudulent withdrawals had 
prevented an estimated £50,000 from being paid out by potential victims.

Concerns were raised regarding the possibility of criminals travelling to Kendal to steal 
from businesses. Supt O’Connor explained that he was keen to continue the Shopwatch 
scheme, which saw regular contact between retailers to help track potential shoplifters.

The Economy and Assets Portfolio Holder, who was also the Council’s representative on 
the Business Against Crime South Lakeland Partnership, thanked Supt O’Connor and the 
CSP for their contribution to the Partnership. He explained that a number of schemes, 
including plastic stoppers to reduce drink spiking, had been well received by residents. 
The Portfolio Holder expressed his concern regarding the number killed and seriously 
injured on the roads of South Lakeland. He questioned why signs at dangerous sections 
of road setting out the number of accidents that had occurred at the site could not be 
utilised within the District.

A Member explained that for a number of years he had promoted the idea of a licensing 
scheme for bar staff and expressing his concern that there was currently no way of 
centrally recording which staff had been involved in previous incidents. A licensing 
scheme would allow Cumbria Police to make it clear which member of staff was involved 
in the sale of alcohol to a drunk person, in much the same way that license holders are 
monitored. Following a request from the Member to involve the Council’s Licensing Team 
and Cumbria Police in a pilot scheme, Supt O’Connor undertook to look into this further.

The impact on neighbourhood policing, particularly in relation to underage drinking, arising 
from the reduced number of police officers was queried. Supt O’Connor explained that 
around 200 police officers had been cut or moved from the frontline, and that there had 

Page 8



39
02.02.2018 Overview and Scrutiny Committee

been a clear impact from this. Neighbourhood policing was key, but continued to be a 
challenge.

The Public Health and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder thanked the Members of the Committee 
for their insightful and appropriate remarks. He undertook to report the Committee’s 
comments to a future meeting of the CSP.

RESOLVED – That

(1) the report be received and endorsed; and

(2) the contribution made through the Community Safety Partnership to the following 
Council Plan target be noted: “We will work with partners to reduce the number of people 
affected by domestic violence, alcohol related crime, substance misuse, anti-social 
behaviour and serious and organised crime through our excellent Community Safety 
Partnership work”. 

O&S/57 SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL AND EDEN DISTRICT COUNCIL JOINT 
OLDER PERSONS' HOUSING STRATEGY 2018 - 2025 

The Deputy Leader and Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder introduced the draft 
South Lakeland District Council (SLDC) and Eden District Council (EDC) Joint Older 
Persons’ Housing Strategy 2018 – 2025. 

An Older Persons’ Housing Strategy had been in place at South Lakeland District Council 
since 2003 to recognise the ageing demography and work to address the housing and 
support needs of older people. The current Joint Strategy had been in place since 2013. 
The revised draft Strategy sought to further improve the support and availability of suitable 
housing options for older people. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee had established 
a task and finish group to play a key role in the development of the Strategy.

The draft Joint Older Persons’ Housing Strategy 2018 – 2025 identified key targets and 
actions which both councils aimed to deliver during the life of the Strategy. An Action Plan 
had also been developed which detailed the actions required to deliver the Strategy’s 
targets. The Action Plan would be monitored and updated annually through SLDC’s 
Housing Advisory Group.

The Chairman thanked both the Principal Housing Strategy Officer and Eden District 
Council’s Housing Needs and Policy Officer for their work in developing the new draft 
Strategy and supporting the Older Persons’ Housing Strategy Task and Finish Group over 
the past year.

The Principal Housing Strategy Officer provided additional detail on the Strategy and its 
priorities and actions. She drew attention to a document which had been circulated prior to 
the start of the meeting which set out the consultation responses received following the 
finalisation of the report.

Those Members present who had sat on the Older Persons’ Housing Strategy Task and 
Finish Group reported that they felt that the project had added real value to the review and 
thanked the officers who had supported the process.

Members identified the Council’s Handyperson’s Scheme as a key service which needed 
promoting as much as possible, particularly to parish councils in the area.

Page 9



40
02.02.2018 Overview and Scrutiny Committee

It was queried whether the graph showing the percentage change in people over the age 
of 65 in England and Cumbria (page 9 of the draft Strategy) was correctly labelled. The 
Principal Housing Strategy Officer and Deputy Leader and Housing and Innovation 
Portfolio Holder undertook to look at the graph and its presentation. The Portfolio Holder 
also highlighted that the graph had used Cumbria as a comparison, but that if South 
Lakeland was used the percentage change would likely be much larger. 

In response to a query, the Principal Housing Strategy Officer explained that the data 
provided on the predicted total population aged 65 and over living in a care home (with or 
without nursing) was based upon current trends. The work of the Strategy would seek to 
reduce the number of people needing to move into residential care through the provision 
of enabling environments such as extra care housing.

It was identified that there was a lack of clarity regarding situations where the money from 
a Disabled Facilities Grant could be used to aid downsizing. The Principal Housing 
Strategy Officer undertook to reword the relevant section to make this clearer.

The Deputy Leader and Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder suggested that it would 
be useful for the Strategy to contain definitions of the types of housing and care available 
to older people, and that statistics could be used to support this information.

The difficulties of encouraging older people to downsize, and the feelings of isolation, 
particularly in rural areas, were highlighted. The Deputy Leader and Housing and 
Innovation Portfolio Holder recognised these issues, and emphasised the need to engage 
with building contractors to encourage greater numbers of affordable houses in rural 
areas, as well as the benefits that the Community Housing Fund would bring. He 
encouraged Members to promote the Community Housing Fund to their communities and 
to support residents to utilise this funding where it was most needed.

RESOLVED – That

(1) the South Lakeland District Council and Eden District Council Joint Older Persons’ 
Housing Strategy 2018 – 2025, and the report from the Older Persons’ Housing Strategy 
Task and Finish Group, be noted; and

(2) the Strategy be recommended to Cabinet for approval. 

O&S/58 CORPORATE FINANCIAL MONITORING QUARTER 3, 2017/18 

The Leader and Finance Portfolio Holder presented the third quarter financial monitoring 
report of 2017/18, which provided details on the financial position of the Council at 31 
December 2017 and the projected year end position based on performance to that date. 
He felt that the Council was increasingly able to closely predict staffing costs, and 
highlighted that the projected surplus of around £240k at the end of the year was due in 
large part to revenue exceeding expectation, with Mintworks a tremendous success to 
date. These enhanced revenue streams would be worked into future budgeting 
processes. The rise in homelessness service demand – without any corresponding 
increase in grant income – was an area of stress in the year. The Leader drew attention to 
the Capital Programme and explained that heavy expenditure was expected in the fourth 
quarter, although it was likely that some projects, particularly those dependent upon third 
party progress, would be carried forward into next year. He concluded by stating his view 
that the Council had done an excellent job in managing the finances of the organisation, 
which was in sound financial shape despite the economic dangers of the future.

Page 10



41
02.02.2018 Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Members recognised the volatility of waste recycling income, but queried why staffing 
costs had also proven unpredictable. The Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services 
explained that a larger number of agency workers had been required during the year, in 
large part because of a difficulty recruiting qualified drivers. This was an issue facing 
authorities across the country. In addition, some extra vehicles had been required to 
complete rounds which further increased staffing costs. The Assistant Director expressed 
his disappointment at the overspend, and explained that a report would be presented to 
the Human Resources Committee in March with a view to better controlling costs in the 
future. The Leader and Finance Portfolio Holder congratulated the Assistant Director 
Neighbourhood Services for his work in supporting the Council’s efforts towards 100% 
kerbside recycling, and highlighted the high quality plastic recycling in the area.

An update was requested on the “Former Knitwear Factory Ulverston” capital scheme and 
it was asked how local residents were being kept informed. The Director People and 
Places undertook to provide a written response.

With regard to the replacement of card-readers within car park machines, Members 
sought reassurance following the recent theft of parking meters in the area that the 
Council’s machines would be suitably theft and vandal proof. The Leader and Finance 
Portfolio Holder undertook to provide a written response.

RESOLVED – That the contents of the report be noted.

O&S/59 COUNCIL PLAN PERFORMANCE MONITORING QUARTER 3, 2017/18 

The Council Organisation and People Portfolio Holder introduced the Council Plan 
Performance Monitoring report for quarter three of 2017/18. The report highlighted areas 
of significantly good or poor performance relating to the measures of success set out in 
the current Council Plan. The report also included the latest Strategic Risk Register.

In response to a query, the Council Organisation and People Portfolio Holder confirmed 
that no waste was currently sent to landfill. Any waste which could not be recycled was 
sent to a mechanical biological treatment plant.

It was queried whether the Strategic Risk Register had considered the risks associated 
with the introduction of Accountable Care Organisations. Concerns regarding the 
identification of risks surrounding procurement and governance in light of the collapse of 
Carillion were also raised. The Chief Executive undertook to provide a written response.

RESOLVED – That the following be noted:-

(1) the Summary of Performance as detailed within the report; and

(2) the detailed risks information contained within Appendix 1 to the report.

O&S/60 PORTFOLIO HOLDER REPORT - COUNCIL ORGANISATION AND PEOPLE 

The Council Organisation and People Portfolio Holder introduced her annual report on 
progress made and plans for the future within the portfolio area.

RESOLVED – That the report be noted.

Page 11



42
02.02.2018 Overview and Scrutiny Committee

O&S/61 PORTFOLIO HOLDER REPORT - PUBLIC HEALTH AND WELLBEING 

The Public Health and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder presented his annual report on progress 
made and plans for the future within the portfolio area. He highlighted the work of the 
Council’s internal Health, Safety and Wellbeing Committee and referred back to the 
importance of the South Cumbria Community Safety Partnership discussed earlier in the 
meeting. The Council’s work in addressing poverty through the Building Financial 
Resilience Group emphasised the interconnectivity of the Council’s priorities. The Portfolio 
Holder described housing and the economy as the key drivers for the success of South 
Lakeland. The betterment of housing and economy would also go a long way to improving 
the health and wellbeing of residents.

The Public Health and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder set out the future projects within his 
portfolio, including the introduction of water bottle refilling stations as part of the ‘GULP’ 
initiative (Give Up Loving Pop) and the possibility of bringing to South Lakeland ‘Fair 
Share’, a charity that recycles unwanted food from large companies and offers it to local 
groups. The Portfolio Holder referred to earlier comments made by the Leader and 
Finance Portfolio Holder regarding the rising challenge of homelessness, and stated his 
concern at the level of people needing to use local food banks. He emphasised that the 
Council provided support and resources to the various charities working to tackle these 
issues.

Members thanked the Portfolio Holder for his report. The success of the local Health and 
Wellbeing Forum and the positive partnership working that it brought was highlighted by 
Councillor Mark Wilson, a County Council representative on the group.

With regard to the need to increase financial resilience, it was suggested that the job fairs 
held in Ulverston could also be provided in Kendal. The Public Health and Wellbeing 
Portfolio Holder undertook to attend the next job fair in Ulverston and to discuss how this 
could be progressed within Kendal.

The Public Health and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder concluded by stating that the Healthy 
Weight Declaration would be considered by Cabinet in March.

RESOLVED – That the report be noted.

O&S/62 REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL'S PUBLIC PARTICIPATION SCHEMES 

The Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer presented the findings of a review of the 
Council’s public participation schemes. As a review of public participation at Planning 
Committee had already been carried out, this review had focused on the General Public 
Participation Scheme and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s Public Participation 
Scheme. Due to the technical and legislative nature of public participation at Licensing 
Sub-Committee meetings, no changes were proposed to this particular scheme.

The primary changes proposed by the review were:- 

 the removal of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s Public Participation Scheme, 
with representations at the Committee being governed by the General Public 
Participation Scheme;

 an amendment to the General Public Participation Scheme to introduce the Planning 
Committee’s registration deadline of 00:01 two working days prior to a meeting; and

Page 12



43
02.02.2018 Overview and Scrutiny Committee

 an additional paragraph to provide greater clarity to speakers at meetings of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee called to consider an executive decision call-in.

It was explained that, subject to the comments of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
that the proposals would be considered by full Council at its meeting on 27 March 2018.

Concern was raised that the changes may be less inclusive for members of the public 
wishing to take part at Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings. The Committee 
Services/Scrutiny Officer explained that the current system prevented the Committee’s full 
consideration of comments due to the requirement that public speaking take place after 
Members had debated an issue and before a decision is taken. He reassured Members 
that public participation at Overview and Scrutiny Committee would continue to be 
encouraged, and that the Chairman’s discretion would ensure that meetings continued to 
be inclusive for all.

The value of a pre-registration deadline was recognised, particularly for meetings held to 
consider the call-in of an executive decision. The 30 minute time limit was queried, and it 
was confirmed that this represented no change from the current General Public 
Participation Scheme. The discretion afforded to chairmen would allow this to be extended 
in exceptional circumstances.

It was suggested that a review could be carried out two years after the implementation of 
any approved changes. This would allow the Committee to consider how well the changes 
were working and whether any further amendments would be required.

RESOLVED – That 

(1) the following be recommended to Council for approval:-

(a) the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s Public Participation Scheme be 
removed from the Constitution and public participation at the Committee’s 
meetings be governed by the General Public Participation Scheme; and

 
(b) the amendments to the General Public Participation Scheme, outlined 
within the report and as shown in Appendix 2 to the report; and

(2)        subject to the approval by Council of recommendations 1a and 1b above, the 
changes to public participation at Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings be 
reviewed two years following implementation.

O&S/63 CUMBRIA HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE UPDATE 

Councillor Vivienne Rees, the Council’s representative to the County Council’s Health 
Scrutiny Committee, confirmed that, following the request made at the last meeting 
(Minute No. O&S/50 refers), she had circulated by email a copy of the Better Care 
Together January 2018 monthly update to the Committee. Future updates would continue 
to be circulated electronically to Members.

There were no further updates to report.

RESOLVED – That the update be noted.

The meeting ended at 4.30 p.m.

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



1

South Lakeland District Council

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

20 April 2018

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Quarter 4 
2017/18 

PORTFOLIO: Councillor Brenda Gray – Council Organisation and 
People Portfolio Holder

REPORT FROM: Simon McVey - Assistant Director Performance and 
Innovation

REPORT AUTHOR: John Davies - Performance and Risk Officer

WARDS: Not applicable

FORWARD PLAN: Not applicable

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME
1.1 Monitoring the success of the Council Plan through scorecards informs 

improvements and ensures Council services address the needs of residents in an 
open and transparent way. Influenced by the three key values as set out in the 
current Council Plan, this report sets out the Council Plan Priorities and Measures of 
Success.  

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1 It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee note:

(1) the Summary of Performance as detailed in the report; 
(2) the detailed risks information contained within Appendix 1; 
(3) considers whether it wishes to make any recommendations to Cabinet.

3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS
3.1 The Council is committed to delivering high quality, cost effective services that meet 

the needs of residents and improve quality of life.  To help achieve our goals, we 
measure performance frequently.  The performance management process helps us 
to demonstrate how well we are doing.

3.2 Benchmarking information is provided for quarter one each year and allows the 
Council to compare its own performance with that of fifteen other statistically similar 
Councils – using the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy Nearest 
Neighbours Model. Information is sourced from the Local Government Association.

3.3 Summary of Performance 

Each Council Plan Priority has ‘Measures of success’ – allowing progress to be 
monitored. Detailed information for each of the measures is listed below.  

Page 15

Item No.7



2

3.4 Economy - Measures of success

Measure: By 2025, we will achieve investment enabling the creation of 1,000 new 
jobs in the area. 

 Estimates show that the Council is on target to achieve 1000 new jobs in the 
area by 2025. Since 01/01/14 an estimated 408 new jobs have been created 
in South Lakeland. It is estimated that 27 new jobs were created in the 4th 
quarter of 2017/18 (Source: Estimate by Partnerships and Organisational 
Development.)

Measure: Between 2015 and 2025, we will have enabled, with the private sector, the 
rise of higher paid jobs and a year-on-year increase in the current median household 
income of £31,189 for people who live in South Lakeland. 

 For 2017 the median income varied across the districts, from the lowest in 
Barrow-in-Furness (£24,381) to the highest in South Lakeland (£32,506). The 
median household income in Cumbria was £27,633 and Great Britain was 
£30,921. Compared to 2016 median household income has increased across 
all Cumbria’s districts. Barrow-in-Furness saw the largest percentage 
increase (+7.8%; +£1,758); the smallest percentage increase was seen in 
South Lakeland (+4.2%; +£1,317). Compared to Great Britain, Cumbria had a 
greater proportion of households with an annual income of less than £10,000 
in 2017, 12.4% compared to 10.7% nationally. The picture is varied across 
the county’s districts. Four districts had proportions that are higher than the 
county and national average: Allerdale (13.8%); Barrow-in-Furness (14.9%); 
Carlisle (13.1%); and Copeland (13.8%). Barrow-in-Furness had the highest 
proportion (14.9%) and South Lakeland the lowest (8.6%). (Source: Cumbria 
Intelligence Observatory.)

Measure: Between 2015 and 2025, in partnership with the district’s towns and 
villages, the council will ensure they maintain their distinctive character and thrive 
commercially by supporting and improving the business start-up rate of 90 per 10,000 
working population year-on-year.

 During 2017 South Lakeland had the highest number of business start-ups 
per 10,000 working age residents at 86.7. This compares to 65.5 for Cumbria 
and 108.0 for England. The number of start-ups per 10,000 working age 
people is sometimes regarded as an indicator of entrepreneurship amongst 
local residents. (Source: Cumbria Intelligence Observatory.)

3.5 Housing - Measures of success

The Council’s Housing Strategy 2016-2025 describes the housing issues within 
South Lakeland.

Measure: By 2025, we will have enabled, with the private sector, the development of 
1,000 new affordable homes to rent. 

 During Quarter Three a total of 14 new affordable homes for rent have been 
completed giving a cumulative total of 359 since 01/01/14. This means that 

Page 16



3

the Council is on target to deliver the 1,000 new affordable homes for rent by 
2025. The total for Quarter Four will be available as a verbal update at O&S 
Committee. (Source: Strategic Housing and Building Control.)

Measure: By 2025, we will have enabled, with the private sector and housing 
associations, an average of 60 completed permanent dwellings each quarter. 

 In 2017 there were 60 permanent dwellings completed in Q1, 50 in Q2, 60 in 
Q3 and 40 in Q4. Since 2015 the Council has enabled the completion of 740 
permanent dwellings – an average of over 61.7 for 12 quarters. (Source: 
DCLG Live tables on house building: table 253a)

Measure:  By 2025, the number of long-term empty homes, currently 827, will have 
reduced by 20%.

 The number of long term empty homes has steadily reduced from 1079 in 
2011 to 827 in 2016 and 973 in 2017. The number of long term empty homes 
will fluctuate as they are brought back into use and as properties become 
empty. (Source: DCLG tables on housing: table 615)

Measure: Between 2015 and 2019, the council through targeted interventions will, 
year on year, bring a minimum of 70 empty homes back into use.

 Since 2015 the Council has brought 201 empty homes back into use. 
Updated information for 2017/18 will be available for Quarter One reporting.

Measure: During 2018/19 the number of homeless households living in temporary 
accommodation will be no more than 20 at any one time.

 During Quarter three there were a maximum of 18 households in temporary 
accommodation at any one time. Data for Quarter four will be available for 
Quarter one 2018/19. Records show that this target has been met for at least 
the last 5 years.  (Source: Housing Options Team)

3.6 Environment - Measures of success

Measure: By 2019, the amount of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and 
composting will increase from 43% to 50%. During the same period the range of 
recyclables will be widened.

 For 2017/18 it is estimated that 43.5% of waste will have been recycled which 
is an increase on 42.4% for 2016/17. Plastic and cardboard kerbside 
collection currently covers 100% of households. (Source: Street Scene)

Measure: By 2019, the amount of residual household waste not sent for reuse, 
recycling and composting will have reduced from the current baseline of 511kg per 
household

 South Lakeland’s residual household waste is sent for reuse rather than to 
landfill. The residual waste is processed to provide refuse derived fuel for 
large industrial processes. The level of residual waste is measured in kilos of 

Page 17



4

waste per household per year: 2013/14 480kg, 2014/15 470kg, 2015/16 
495kg, 2016/17 511kg and an estimated 492kg for 2017/18. This measure 
includes waste collected from households in grey bins and also from litter bins 
and street sweepings. The tonnage of street sweepings varies significantly 
each year and therefore impacts on this return. The quantity of waste 
collected in grey bins from households has remained relatively stable and the 
variation is a consequence of fluctuations in street sweepings collected 
(Source: Street Scene)

Measure: Between 2015 and 2019 the council will, year on year, have reduced its 
operational carbon footprint by 100 tonnes of carbon, from a baseline of 2,869 
tonnes.

 For 2016/17 the total carbon emissions was 3,488 tonnes - an increase of 455 
tonnes is mainly due to the use of fuel and gas. Figures for 2017/18 will be 
calculated during quarter one 2018/19. This increase is offset by the Councils 
work to prevent 5500 tonnes of emissions by reusing, recycling and 
composting nearly all of the waste collected across the District. (Source: 
Partnerships and Organisational Development)

3.7 Culture and wellbeing - Measures of success

Measure: By 2019, through collaborative and preventative action the level of self-
reported general health of South Lakeland’s residents will demonstrate an 
improvement above the baseline of 70% as reported in the Quality of Life Survey.

 The Quality of Life Survey 2017 shows that 72% of residents reported good or 
very good health. (Source: Partnerships and Organisational Development)

Measure: By 2025, the health inequality gap for residents in South Lakeland’s 18 
most deprived communities will be narrowed resulting in the improved healthy life 
expectancy above the national average of 81 years.

 The average health status score for adults aged 65 and over is 0.788 in South 
Lakeland. This has improved from 0.771 in 2015/16 and is better than the 
England average of 0.735. This shows that South Lakeland has better health 
in older life than on average across England. (Source: Public Health England: 
Public Health Outcomes data)

 Results for 2015 show that in South Lakeland there are 4 Lower Super Output 
Areas (LSOA’s) in the 30% most health deprived LSOAs in England. LSOAs 
are a set of geographies designed specifically for statistical purposes. LSOAs 
have an average population of 1,600 people. We can look at the proportion of 
LSOAs within the District that lie within each decile. Decile 1 represents the 
most deprived 10% of LSOAs in England while decile 10 shows the least 
deprived 10% of areas. (Source: Cumbria Observatory)

 The 2011 Census asked the question: “How is your health in general”? Of 
South Lakeland’s wards, the greatest proportions of residents reporting that 
their health was ‘bad’ or ‘very bad’ were found in Ulverston Central and 
Ulverston Town. 

Page 18



5

Measure: By 2019, the overall level of reported crime will not exceed the 2014/15 
level of 3,425.

 During Quarter One 2017/18 there were 993 crimes, Q2 963 and Q3 1011 
reported making a total of 2967 crimes to date. The overall result for 2017/18 
will be available in Quarter One 2018/19. (Source: Cumbria Constabulary)

3.8 Strategic Risk Register – Appendix 1

All strategic risks in their current stage of development are visible within appendix 1. 
There are 4 strategic risks above the Council’s tolerance for risk and these are being 
managed effectively.  The Strategic Risks have been reviewed in line with risk 
management arrangements. 

Risks summary this quarter

Total number of risks: 15

New risks: 1

Archived Risks: 1

Risks above tolerance: 4 (reviewed every quarter)

Risks below tolerance:  11 (reviewed annually at Quarter 4)

4.0 CONSULTATION
4.1 This report details measures of success against each of the priorities within the 

Council Plan.  These have been consulted on extensively prior to the Plan being 
adopted by Full Council.

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
5.1 No alternative options – the purpose of the report is to receive a performance update. 

The Council must note successes, monitor progress and take action where 
appropriate.

6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES
6.1 Reporting measures of success contained within the Council Plan 2014-2019.

6.2 The report is directly linked to the following Council Plan commitment to ensure that 
the Council is equipped to provide the best, most cost effective services.

6.3 Details regarding performance monitoring are published in line with the Council’s 
current Performance Management Framework.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS

7.1 Financial and Resources
7.1.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. However, strategic 

risks can relate to financial issues and are considered as part of the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Plan, budget preparation and monitoring process.

7.2 Human Resources
7.2.1 There are no human resources implications associated with this report.

Page 19



6

7.3 Legal
7.3.1 There are no legal implications associated with this report.

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4.1 Reporting performance has a positive impact on health, social, economic and 

environmental needs.

Have you completed and Health, Social, 
Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment?

Yes ☐ No ☒

If yes, please confirm that it is attached 
to the report in the appendices.

Yes ☐ No ☒

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons.

Reporting performance has a positive 
impact on health, social, economic and 
environmental needs.

7.5 Equality and Diversity
7.5.1 Reporting performance has a positive impact on equality and diversity needs.

Have you completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis?

Yes ☐ No ☒

If yes, please confirm that it is attached 
to the report in the appendices.

Yes ☐ No ☒

If you have not completed an Equality 
Impact Analysis, please explain your 
reasons.

Reporting performance has a positive 
impact on equality and diversity needs.

7.6 Risk

Risk Consequence Controls required

For indicators and 
performance measures 
not to be monitored, 
corrective action is not 
identified early.

Ambitions as set out in the 
Council Plan are not 
achieved.

Recommendations for 
corrective action are 
implemented.

Good performance is not 
acknowledged.

Poor morale and 
performance culture.

Successes are recognised 
and celebrated.

CONTACT OFFICERS
Report Author – John Davies, Performance and Risk Officer, 01539 733333, 
rj.davies@southlakeland.gov.uk 

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT
Appendix No.
1 Strategic Risk Register

Page 20

mailto:rj.davies@southlakeland.gov.uk


7

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE
Detailed Performance information on the Council’s website

Council Plan

Performance Management Framework

Risk Management Arrangements

Link to CIPFA website and description of Nearest Neighbours Model

Link to benchmarking data at Local Government Association

Link to economy data from Office for National Statistics Official Labour Market Statistics

Link to health data from Public Health England Public Health Outcomes Framework 

TRACKING INFORMATION
Assistant 
Director

Portfolio Holder Solicitor to the 
Council

SMT Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee

27/03/18 27/03/18 27/03/18 29/03/18 20/04/18

Executive 
(Cabinet)

Council Section 151 
Officer

Monitoring 
Officer

25/04/18 27/03/18 27/03/18

HR Manager Leader Ward 
Councillor(s) 

27/03/18

Page 21

https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/performance-measures/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-documents/council-plan/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-documents/council-plan/performance/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-documents/council-plan/performance/
http://www.cipfastats.net/default_view.asp?content_ref=8193
http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=185&mod-period=1&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&modify-report=Apply
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157080/report.aspx?#idbr
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/0/gid/1000049/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/101/are/E07000031/iid/92311/age/1/sex/4


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



Appendix 1

1
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

Strategic Risks Register - Quarter 4, 2017/18

Introduction

Risk Management is an essential element of corporate governance arrangements. The process of risk management allows the Council to identify, 
prioritise and mitigate risks which may have a negative effect on services. This is an important and underpinning process which ensures good value for 
money and also continuity of services. 

Risks are recognised as essential management information and so contribute towards decision making. This document lists all those risks which are 
considered as strategic in nature – in other words those risks that could have a wide impact or require senior management control.

This Strategic Risks Register is reviewed and updated every quarter by Senior Management Team. Risks above the line of tolerance are a priority and 
so are reviewed every quarter – whilst those below tolerance are reviewed once a year.

Strategic risks are by their very nature problematic and so can remain on the register for significant periods of time.

Page 2 and 3 of this report explain the risk matrix and layouts used for the risks.

Page 4 provides a Risk ‘Heat Map’ which provides an ‘at a glance’ view of the priority risks – those currently in the blue zone and so above the line of 
risk appetite/tolerance.

P
age 23



Appendix 1

2
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

How to understand the Risk Matrix:

This register contains the full and complete list of the Council’s Strategic Risks. Each risk is plotted on a risk matrix to show degree of likelihood and 
impact. The greater the likelihood and impact the higher the priority for management. Those risks which lay above the line of risk appetite (risk 
tolerance) can be seen in the blue zone of the matrix. These risks are a priority for management and are reviewed every quarter. Risks below the risk 
appetite, in the green zone, are a lower priority and so are reviewed on an annual basis.

The next page shows how the information for each risk is presented.

High

Medium x

Low x

Very Low

Negligible Marginal Serious Critical

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact

Risks positioned in the blue zone of the risk matrix are a 
high priority and require quarterly mitigation and 
management. Mitigation updates are listed for these risks. 

Risks positioned in the green zone of the risk matrix are 
lower priority and require an annual review in Quarter 
Four.

P
age 24



Appendix 1

3
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

How to understand the layout of each risk in this report

Risk No. & Name
The risk name is a concise and clear title for the risk

Description
A description of the circumstances which help to generate risk

Current Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk.

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
Review Date:
The date when this risk will be 
considered and reviewed

Target Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the future 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations.

XLi
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
Target Date:
The date that the risk must reach the 
target position – through the completion 
of mitigations.

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

A mitigation is an action which is designed 
to reduce or eliminate the risk.  The 
mitigation can improve the likelihood or 
impact of the risk.

A short update on progress made 
with the mitigation

The person responsible for 
progressing the mitigation

Mitigations should be implemented 
by their due dates for the risk to be 
improved effectively.

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

For each risk a history of risk review and improvement is shown:
RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓  =  a risk review indicates that there is now less risk
RISK POSITION INCREASED ↑  =  a risk review indicates that there is now more risk
RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔  =  a risk review indicates that there is the same level of risk
RISK IDENTIFIED ●  =  a newly identified risk is entered onto this register

Risk Owner The person with sufficient authority to control this risk Portfolio the Portfolio that this risk is relevant to 
 

P
age 25



Appendix 1

4
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

Risk ‘Heat Map’ - showing the current position of all risks in this report

This matrix provides an ‘at a glance’ view of the priority risks – those currently in the blue zone and so above the line of risk appetite/tolerance.

High

Medium

Risk 5, Risk 6, 9, 14, 
15,

Low

Risk 2, 13,
18 (new risk)

Risk 3 (archive), 
4, 7, 8, 12

Very 
Low

Risk 16, 17

Negligible Marginal Serious Critical

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact

P
age 26



Appendix 1

5
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

Strategic Risks Register

  Risk 1 was archived during quarter 1 2016/17

Risk 2
Contracts do not deliver the standards of performance required 
within the contract fee agreed.

Description

Current Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Review Date
Annual – end of March

Target Position of Risk

XLi
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
31/03/18

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

Mitigations are not applicable as this risk is 
below tolerance.

n/a n/a n/a

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change as the Council has three new major contracts.
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ -  Review indicates that the current risk remains the same in terms of likelihood and impact.

Risk Owner Assistant Directors Portfolio Finance Portfolio

P
age 27



Appendix 1

6
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

Risk 3
Business Continuity

Description
1/ Loss of South Lakeland House and Server room prevents access to systems and 
data:
Loss of main office and server room due to major fire prevents access to systems and 
data. Likelihood is low due to fire prevention measures however impact is critical as 
affects all services at once, some at critical times. The remote access server that 
allows people to access systems and data from remote locations is based in South 
Lakeland House and if destroyed would severely limit services. A fire could also 
destroy most laptops. The delay in getting new laptops supplied with an SLDC 
configuration would again severely limit services. 
2/ Loss of telecommunications due to external or internal infrastructure failure:
Likelihood is at least significant as telephony issues occur several times each year. 
Impact is serious as affects all services for up to a day and inevitably at critical times. A 
current work around in extremis allows public calls to be redirected to Eden and then 
to Canal Head Depot, however staff would have to use mobiles to make external calls. 
The Emergency Control Room (SLDC Contact Centre) has independent phone lines and 
WIFI internet access and mobile phone reception in place. 

Current Position of Risk

x

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Review Date
Quarterly

Target Position of Risk

xLi
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
31/03/18

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

Resilient telephony network Complexity of technical solution 
requires amended due date.
10/07/17: date requires amending to 
31/12/17 as procurement is now 
being progressed.
15/01/18: testing is now in progress 
and predicted fully complete by end 
Feb 2018.

IT Services Manager 31/12/17
A solution has been found, the 
procurement route is being 
progressed for implementation by 
end December 2017.
Amended date: predicted complete 
by 28/02/18.
Completed

P
age 28



Appendix 1

7
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

14/03/18: Completed

Check the effectiveness of the generator 
installation and the external power supply

This mitigation added on 03/04/17
Update 10/07/17: Property Services 
have begun checks for the 
generator.
29/09/17: faulty generator sensor 
now repaired.

Performance and Risk Officer 01/09/17
Completed – faulty sensor repaired

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. Previously completed 
mitigations and 2016/17 history have been archived – for this information please see Q1 2017/18 version of this risk register.
Q4 2017/18: RISK ARCHIVED – robust organisational arrangeents are in place, for example server room protections, resilient telephony, resilient 
email, resilient data (back up at remote site), disaster recovery contract, back up generator etc. Recently 150 staff tested remote working 
capability without experiencing disruption. This risk will be removed from the risk register for Quarter One 2018/19 reporting. The risk around 
Cyber Security will remain on the register.

Risk Owner Assistant Director Performance and Innovation Portfolio Council Organisation and People Portfolio

P
age 29



Appendix 1

8
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

Risk 4
Affordable housing targets are not met.

Description
There is a risk that the Council may not achieve the Council Plan target: ‘By 2025 we 
will have enabled with the private sector the development of 1,000 new affordable 
homes for rent’. The Council will need to enable delivery of new affordable and open 
market housing particularly through private sector led development across the 
district. Performance is influenced by New Homes Bonus and Local Government 
Financing.

Current Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Review Date
Annual – end of March

Target Position of Risk

XLi
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
31/03/18

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

Mitigations are not applicable as risk is below 
tolerance

n/a n/a n/a

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change.
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - This risk will be retained on the register to allow regular monitoring. 

Risk Owner Assistant Director Strategic Development Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio

P
age 30



Appendix 1

9
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

Risk 5
Impact of the Welfare Reform on communities

Description
Welfare reform is a major element of recent government spending cuts - resulting in 
significant changes to taxes and benefits. Universal Credit may have an impact on the 
level of benefits. Welfare reform therefore impacts on low-income tenants and social 
landlords.

Current Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Review Date
Annual – end of March

Target Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
31/03/18

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

Mitigations are not applicable as this risk is 
below tolerance.

n/a n/a n/a

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change.
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - The risk will be retained on the risk register whilst there is a potential for impacts.

Risk Owner Assistant Director & Chief Finance Officer Portfolio Culture, Wellbeing and Leisure Portfolio

P
age 31



Appendix 1

10
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

Risk 6
Medium Term Financial Planning – delivery of a balanced budget

Description
Current and future years proposed budget reductions (expenditure and income) are 
not achieved. Future year’s budget reductions (expenditure or income) are not 
identified. Significant existing income sources are not protected or effectively 
managed. Income from Central Government is reduced above the current 
assumptions. NDR income assumptions are not achieved. Other key factors are the 
Spending Review 2015-2020, Business Rates Retention and the Fair Funding Review.

Current Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Review Date
Quarterly

Target Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
Annual – end of March

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

MTFP assumptions are reviewed, updated and 
reported on a quarterly basis

Mitigation is in place and on track Assistant Director of Resources 
(Section 151)

Each quarter

Options to resolve any issues are provided to 
the Cabinet each quarter

Mitigation is in place and on track Assistant Director of Resources 
(Section 151). Assistant Directors
Directors

Each quarter

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change.
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change however uncertainty over future funding may influence future risk 
position.
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Government have confirmed 4-year settlement offer will apply to 
2018/19; Cumbrian authorities considering 100% business rate retention pilot for 2018/19.
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - The annual statutory requirement has been met however longer term goals will require continuous 
monitoring.

Risk Owner Assistant Director & Chief Finance Officer Portfolio Finance Portfolio

P
age 32



Appendix 1

11
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

Risk 7
Information Management is not effective

Description
The Council is required to have effective information governance procedures. It will 
be necessary to manage corporate information by implementing processes, roles and 
controls - including the Data Protection and Information Security Policies.

Current Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Review Date
Annual

Target Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
31/12/18

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

Continue to reinforce key standards and 
policies via regular communication. Ensure 
Managers are appropriately trained and 
requirements are clearly set out in Job 
Descriptions and reinforced via appraisals. 
Ensure Internal Audit findings are acted on in 
a timely manner.

This mitigation added on 11/11/15. 

Update 07/06/17: Training schedule 
in early draft. Key standards to be 
agreed by Customer Connect 
Programme Board in autumn 2017

Update 14/12/17: Training schedule 
designed and on target to be 
delivered, in line with board 
approval, for end of 2018. 60% of 
staff to receive e-learning by end of 
July 2018, remaining 40% by end of 
December 2018.

Principal Performance and 
Intelligence Officer

31/12/18

Clear and ongoing communications to staff to 
reinforce policies and protocols. Regular 
review and monitoring of arrangements 

This mitigation added on 11/11/15. 

Update 07/06/17: Training schedule 

Principal Performance and 
Intelligence Officer

31/12/18

P
age 33



Appendix 1

12
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

across services by Operational Managers 
supported by Information Security/ 
Governance Teams in Policy & Partnerships 
and ICT.

in early draft. Key standards to be 
agreed by Customer Connect 
Programme Board in autumn 2017.

Update 14/12/17: Training schedule 
designed and on target to be 
delivered, in line with board 
approval, for end of 2018. 60% of 
staff to receive e-learning by end of 
July 2018, remaining 40% by end of 
December 2018.

The Information Governance (IG) Framework 
was approved by Cabinet on 16 September 
2015 and provides the structure to govern 
how the Council captures, creates, accesses, 
secures, manages and shares its information 
both internally and externally. In line with 
Customer Connect Programme, the Council 
had to its approach to information 
governance.

This mitigation added on 07/06/17 

In order to implement the 
Information Governance Framework 
it is proposed that a learning 
package deliverable is created.
It is proposed that the learning 
package deliverable will be 100% e-
learning.  Scope will be provided to 
design and develop workbooks for 
those members of staff without 
access to ICT equipment.

Principal Performance and 
Intelligence Officer

End of May 2018

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change.
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Mitigation due dates updated in line with Information Governance Board Highlights Report 
14/12/17. This risk is remains within risk tolerance.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - review indicates no change at this time, relevant mitigations are in place.

Risk Owner Assistant Director Performance and Innovation Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio

P
age 34



Appendix 1

13
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

Risk 8
The infrastructure required to deliver the Council Plan priorities is 
not provided.

Description
Infrastructure is required to support businesses and housing development objectives. 
The Council will need to implement the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to 
provide funding stream for infrastructure delivery. There will need to be protocols for 
CIL Governance and an up to date Infrastructure Delivery Plan.
Due to the impacts of Storm Desmond there may be implications associated with 
future flood resilience measures and infrastructure repairs.

Current Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Review Date
Quarterly

Target Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
31/03/18

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

Annual update of Infrastructure Delivery Plan. Review largely complete to be 
reported to Cabinet. 
Update 21/12/16: approach to 
meeting education needs in Kendal 
being worked up by Cumbria County 
Council. Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
will be reported to Cabinet in March 
2017.
Update 04/04/17: extra time 
required for education aspect due 
date extended to 31/05/17

Completed. Updated Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan reported to Cabinet on 
September 13th. Significant progress 
on infrastructure delivery including:
• Kendal highways and transport 
improvements (£3.4m)

Development Strategy and Housing 
Manager

01/12/16
Amended to 31/05/17

Completed 13/09/17

P
age 35



Appendix 1

14
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

• Ulverston junction improvements 
(£4.5m) including access to Lightburn 
Road employment site through Blue 
Light Hub.
• The development of a funding 
package to deliver a new roundabout 
at Swarthmoor to enable housing 
development at Swarthmoor and 
Croftlands.

Development of protocols for CIL Governance. To be reported to Cabinet
Update 21/12/16: CIL Governance 
Protocols will be reported with 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan to 
Cabinet in March 2017.
Update 04/04/17: extra time 
required for education aspect due 
date extended to 31/05/17

Completed. CIL Governance 
arrangements approved by Cabinet 
on September 13th.

Development Strategy and Housing 
Manager

01/12/16
Amended to 31/05/17

Completed 13/09/17

CIL Review proposed as part of Development 
Management Policies process.

To be undertaken when draft 
Development Management policies 
are consulted upon in Autumn 2016. 
Update 21/12/16: Viability study 
scheduled for mid 2017 – will update 
viability position in relation to 
affordable housing, CIL and impact of 
Development Management policies.
Update 04/04/17: Viability study 
Commisioned.
Update 13/03/18: Viability study 

Development Strategy and Housing 
Manager

01/03/18

Completed

P
age 36



Appendix 1

15
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

completed.

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. There has been positive progress and further collaboration with 
partners on infrastructure needs is required.
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Updated evidence, in support of the new development management policies, on viability has 
concluded that development can support current levels of CIL. The results of examination will inform the future position of this risk.

Risk Owner Assistant Director Strategic Development Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio

P
age 37



Appendix 1

16
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

Risk 9
Essential strategic partnerships required to deliver the Council Plan 
do not operate effectively.

Description
Where necessary robust agreements will be needed. Also opportunities and resource 
implications should be identified. Partnerships will need to work supportively to 
achieve Council Plan objectives. The introduction of NHS STP’s and the movement of 
South Cumbria CCG’s into Lancashire/Morecambe Bay by April 2017 requires new 
strategic partnerships to be formed with these groups to ensure SLDC and its 
communities gain maximum benefit from any changes. This risk applies to all our 
strategic partnerships, such as the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP), CCC, LDNPA as 
examples. The risk is not specific to any one initiative or approach from partner 
organisations, rather the strategic direction and policies that they take and make, and 
their correlation to SLDC achieving its aims and objectives through its Council Plan.

Current Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Review Date
Annual

Target Position of Risk

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
31/03/18

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

Monitor resource, cost and reputational 
impact with established strategic partnerships

No cost implications to the council in 
maintaining partnerships

Partnerships & Organisational 
Development Manager

31/03/18 annual review

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ -  There is a meeting planned for political leaders and officers within the 1st qtr of 2017/18 to raise 
and discuss this issue across partners and Morecambe Bay authorities. A governance review of the Cumbria LEP (Local Enterprise Partnership) is 
also underway. Positive collaborative relationships are being seen with Cumbria County Council locally, with Joint Districts in Cumbria, and now as 
a partner in the Northern Powerhouse Partnership at an Officer level.
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ -  SMT review indicates no change to position of risk.
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ -  SMT review indicates no change to position of risk.
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ -  SMT review indicates no change to position of risk.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ -  SMT review indicates no change to position of risk. Risk description updated to include additional 
examples of strategic partnerships.

Risk Owner Chief Executive Portfolio Leader and Finance Portfolio

P
age 38



Appendix 1

17
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

  Risk 10 and Risk 11 were archived during quarter 1 2016/17

Risk 12
Health and Safety management of contracts – records for on site 
checks

Description of risk
Health and safety management arrangements require a review for officer led 
contracts. Officers that are managing contractors are required to make safety checks 
and keep records. Safety checks should be proportional to risk. 

Current Position of Risk

x

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Next Review Date
Annually in quarter 4

Target Position of Risk

x

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
Target met

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

Contracts Management Health and Safety 
training is provided

Completed Principle Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing Officer

09/04/15
Completed

Officer leads carry out onsite H&S monitoring 
which is proportionate to the risk

ongoing All staff managing contracts Ongoing requirement

Officer led contracts are subject to spot 
checks for onsite monitoring records.

Q4 2015/16: Initial assessment 
indicates that evidence exists for 
H&S checks
Q3 2016/17: A second assessment 
identifies training needs

All managers with contracts. Completed.

Promote training on active monitoring Building/property and all external 
contractors to be involved in the 
training.
Further training ‘Control of 
Contractors’ completed on 

All Managers with contracts 13/04/17, further training sessions 
to be completed by end of Qtr 1 
2017/18. 
Completed 24/10/17.

P
age 39



Appendix 1

18
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

24/10/17.

Further spot checks to be made for records of 
onsite contractor safety

Mitigation added following SMT 
review on 06/07/17.
Completed

Performance and Risk Officer 01/10/17
Completed

A further review will be completed by 
Assistant Directors in October 2017

Mitigation added 12/10/17.
Update 05/04/18: Completed

Assistant Directors 01/11/2017
Completed

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ – impact reduced to reflect completion of training however likelihood increased to maintain the risk 
position as above tolerance ensuring regular quarterly reviews - and the focus on spot checks for evidence of on site safety monitoring. Risk name 
updated for the focus on records of onsite checks – likelihood medium and impact serious.
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Additional mitigation added.
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Review is near completion and indicating positive results - will 
inform quarter four update.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓  =  Review indicates that this risk has now reduced in terms of likelihood to target position. Risk is 
reduced due to health and safety performance, training provided and availability of resources. This risk is now below tolerance and will be 
reviewed annually during quarter four.

Risk Owner Chief Executive Portfolio Finance Portfolio

P
age 40



Appendix 1

19
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

Risk 13
Impact of new projects and initiatives on existing Council Plan 
priorities

Description of risk
There is a risk that new projects and initiatives take the resources required by other 
projects and initiatives currently in the programme. 

Current Position of Risk

x

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Next Review Date
Quarterly

Target Position of Risk

x

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
31/03/18

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

Ensure that potential new projects and 
initiatives are subject to a pre-assessment 
which measures their priority

Completed and ongoing 
requirement.
Update 10/11/16: Reinforce the 
assessment and prioritisation of new 
projects – review in six months.
Update 18/01/18: the assessment 
and prioritaisation of projects is an 
ongoing requirement.

Director of People and Places Ongoing requirement

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change however to be reviewed at quarter three subject to prioritisation 
of resources.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - Review indicates that likelihood is low with existing controls. Controls will continue to be applied 
including prioritisation against Strategic Projects Log.

Risk Owner Director of People and Places Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio

P
age 41



Appendix 1

20
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

Risk 14
Unintended impacts of efficiencies and service changes

Description of risk
New efficiencies and changes brought about by one service can have unintended 
negative impacts on the efficiency and running of another service – especially if 
proposals are not consulted on until to late in the process. These impacts can increase 
the cost of running other services. Also the changes brought about by other 
organisations have the potential to influence Council resources and delivery.

Current Position of Risk

x

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly

Next Review Date
Annual – end of March

Target Position of Risk

x

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

Target Date
31/03/18

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

This risk is managed via the Service Planning 
and Budgeting processes. 

Completed Operational Managers
Senior Management Team

Mitigations in place within 
existing Service Planning and 
Budgeting processes.

Promote early discussions on potential change 
with external parties

New mitigation on 10/11/16
06/07/17: Mitigations underway and 
ongoing

Director of People and Places 31/03/17

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.
For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change.
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Mitigations are in progress.
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change – this risk is linked to ‘Risk 15: Customer Connect’.
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates no change due to period of organisational change and ongoing partnership 
discussions.

Risk Owner Director of People and Places Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio

P
age 42



Appendix 1

21
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

Risk 15
Customer Connect Programme

Description
The programme fails to deliver what’s set out in the programme definition and 
customer contact strategy.
Customer Connect is a challenging programme that requires significant change 
to ways of working for staff across the Council. The Programme Board manages 
the Customer Connect Risk Log on a regular basis. Mitigations are in place for 
the risks and the main challenges to the programme are: Scope and Ambition, 
Staff resources and capacity, Skills and Workforce Planning, Buy in from 
Customers and Training and development for staff and Councillors.

Current Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk.

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
Review Date:
Each quarter

Target Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the desired 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations.

X

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
Target Date:
31/03/18

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

The programme is being managed via the 
Programme Board with resources 
identified to deliver year 1 and 2 of the 
programme.

Financial resources are set aside 
for the programme, but there is a 
requirement to identify all the 
staff needed over the next two 
years to support the projects

Update 07/06/17: In May 2017 
membership of the Programme 
Boards was revised and updated 
to reflect the additional roles 
required to deliver the various 
projects within the programme.  

There is still significant work to 
deliver the People element of the 

Partnerships & Organisational 
Development Manager

01/07/2017
Completed

P
age 43



Appendix 1

22
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

programme that requires a 
structure to be created to reflect 
the new operating model

There is a risk log for the programme SMT have ownership of all the 
risks and identified mitigations -  
completed.

Projects & Innovation Officer 01/07/2017
Completed

All risks on the Customer Connect risk log 
were updated during October 2017. The 
risks are reviewed at each Board meeting 
and are managed accordingly.

All risks above the line are being 
managed and have mitigations in 
place to reduce the likelihood.  
The Senior Responsible Owner 
has taken direct responsibility for 
managing the partnership 
arrangements with Eden. 

Partnerships & Organisational 
Development Manager (Joint 
Programme Manager for Customer 
Connect Programme Board at South 
Lakeland and Service Innovation 
Board at Eden)

Reviewed monthly by the 
Programme Board

History 
of Risk Improvement

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change.
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates Likelihood Medium and Impact Serious. The project is making good 
progress in all three areas: Digital, People, and Places.
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change.
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change.

Risk Owner Assistant Director Performance and Innovation - Senior 
Responsible Owner.

Portfolio Housing & Innovation  and Council Organisation and 
People 

P
age 44



Appendix 1

23
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

Risk 16 
Waste Collection – Reversing Manoeuvres

Description
Management of waste collection vehicle manoeuvres on recycling and waste 
collection rounds.
There are many practical and advanced technological safety precautions in 
place including the following:
Waste collection rounds have risk assessments and safe systems of work in 
place.
All drivers and crews have been trained.
All rounds are monitored to ensure that safe systems are adhered to.
Vehicles have advanced technologies fitted e.g. reversing CCTV and 
sophisticated radar to assist the driver and crews manoeuvre safely

Current Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk.

xLi
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
Review Date:
Each quarter when above the line of 
risk tolerance

Target Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the desired 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations.

XLi
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
Target Date:
31/03/17

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

Maintain and keep up to date the Safe 
System of Work, inspections and the 
utilisation of risk reducing technologies.

In progress and reviewed by the 
Street Scene Health and Safety 
Working Group on a quarterly 
basis

Street Scene Manager Ongoing requirement

Commission specialist support to assist in 
the completion of a further review of 
vehicle movements including reversing on 
private drives, private roadways and 
narrow access highways 

Update 17/11/16: Support 
commissioned and interim report 
received. Considering key actions 
for the service within operational 
health and safety plans.
Completed.

Street Scene Manager 31/12/16
Completed.

Implement the priority findings of the 
above review 

Specific Action plan has been 
developed to implement the 
findings of the review. High 

Street Scene Manager 31/12/17
Completed.

P
age 45



Appendix 1

24
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

Priority Areas have been 
identified and the 
implementation of necessary 
changes commenced and planned 
for completion by amended due 
date of 31/12/17.
Completed.

Implement the lower priority findings of 
the above review

Planned for completion by 
31/12/17. 
Update 15/01/18: lower priority 
findings will now be completed by 
31/03/18.
Update 13/03/18: Now complete. 
There will be an ongoing review 
of all manoeuvres as part of 
business as usual arrangements.

Street Scene Manager 13/03/18
Completed

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Many of the reviews are completed however there are a small 
number outstanding as this involves a policy change to collection points and methods, and these are not just reversing issues.
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change.
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change – work is in progress.
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - All Ulverston rounds have been assessed and mitigating measures introduced. Results have 
been provided to the Health and Safety Committee 15th January 2018. Some lower priority areas remain pending with completion expected 
before end March 2018. Risk position remains the same until all reversing manoeuvres are assessed and mitigating measures have been 
implemented as required.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - ↓ - Review indicates that risk has been reduced to the target position due to completed mitigations. 
Decision made not to archive risk in order to maintain awareness. 

Risk Owner Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services Portfolio Environment Portfolio

P
age 46



Appendix 1

25
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

Risk 17
Cyber Security incident

Description
There have been many high profile examples of cyber security breaches across 
the World and in the UK recently. The Council has effective security in place to 
protect data and deliver services - however threats are becoming ever more 
sophisticated and organisations need to be one step ahead. Cyber-attacks can 
cross international boundaries and may be initiated by organised criminal 
groups, lone individuals or be state sponsored. Cyber criminals are broadening 
their efforts towards UK citizens, organisations and institutions. Terrorists are 
conducting low-level attacks and aspire to carry out more significant acts. 
Examples of threats are Botnets, Distributed denial-of-service, Hacking, 
Malware, Pharming, Phishing, Ransomware and Spam.

Current Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk.

x

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
Review Date:
The date when this risk will be 
considered and reviewed

Target Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the desired 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations.

x

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
Target Date:
The date that the risk must reach the 
target position – through the 
completion of mitigations.

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

Cyber security actions within the ICT Risk 
Register 

Cyber security actions are on 
track

Shared IT Service Manager In line with cyber security due dates 

Review of Insurance Mitigation added 12/10/17 
Update 15/01/18: Predicted 
complete by 31/01/18 for 
insurance renewal deadline.

Financial Services Manager Deputy 
Section 151 Officer

31/12/17
Predicted complete by 31/01/18

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register.
RISK IDENTIFIED ●  =  Audit Committee of 26/07/17 suggested that the Information management risks should be split to create this separate risk 
for Cyber Security. Agreed on 08/08/17 by the Monitoring Officer.
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates likelihood very low and impact critical. Additional insurance mitigation 
added. ICT maintains up to date software patches. Staff have guidance on how to keep IT Networks Secure and what to do if a virus or malware is 
suspected.

P
age 47



Appendix 1

26
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - The risk remains very low. ICT continue to maintain security related Microsoft updates, virus 
software updates and follow industry best practice. Business Continuity arrangements are strengthened. 

Risk Owner Assistant Director Performance and Innovation Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio

P
age 48



Appendix 1

27
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

Risk 18
Potential reduction in income from the disposal of 
recyclable materials as a consequence of market changes 
affected by China’s waste policy

Description
China has made a decision to receive only very low contaminated recycled 
waste. As a consequence there will be very large quantities of waste across 
the UK and other international countries that will not be eligible for sending 
to China. Without an alternative outlet for large quantities of contaminated 
recyclable waste the value of this waste will fall significantly. South Lakeland 
District Council’s waste collection approach is to separate recyclables in a 
way that mitigates against contamination and maintains a high quality 
product so may be less affected by new policy from China. The 
advantageous position that South Lakeland has is confirmed in a recent 
APSE report. However the income provided from waste recycling is 
significant and would have a large impact on services should it be reduced 
drastically.

Current Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk.

x

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
Review Date:
Each quarter when above the line of risk 
tolerance

Target Position of Risk
This risk matrix shows the desired 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations.

XLi
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact
Green zone: review annually
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
Target Date:
31/03/19

 Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date

 

The Council already has legally 
compliant, waste recycling processes in 
place that minimise contamination.

Complete and in place Assistant Director Neighbourhood 
Services

Complete and in place

 

The Council continues to maintain a high 
profile message to residents to avoid 
contamination of recyclable materials 
placed out for collection.

Ongoing Community and Leisure Manager with 
assistance from Communications Team

Ongoing

P
age 49



Appendix 1

28
Version: 1
Date: 02/04/2018
Quarter: 4, 2017/18

History 
of Risk 
Improvement

13/03/18: RISK IDENTIFIED ●  =  This risk identified by Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services and Community and Leisure Manager. Risk 
prepared for escalation from operational level to Senior Management Team and approved for inclusion on the Strategic Risks Register.

Risk Owner Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services Portfolio Environment Portfolio

P
age 50



South Lakeland District Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

20 April 2018
EXECUTIVE REPORT

REPORT FROM: Cllr Giles Archibald, Leader and Finance Portfolio Holder

Portfolio Responsibilities

The development of strategic policy to ensure that the Council has put in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources i.e. 
Value for Money. 
To ensure that the Council has proper arrangements in place for securing financial resilience. 
Working with partners and stakeholders in the public, private and voluntary sector, at national, 
regional and sub-regional level. To act as an ambassador and advocate for the Communities 
of South Lakeland. 
To represent the Council on local and other strategic partnerships including nominated 
representative on the Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership as appropriate.

Policies, Plans and Strategies 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy 
 Budget Framework 
 Procurement Strategy 
 Asset Management Strategy 
 Discretionary Benefit and Rate Relief Polices 
 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

Key Areas: 

 Strategic Finance 
 Budget Monitoring 
 Treasury Management 
 Capital Programme 
 Value for Money 
 Procurement 
 Savings Programme 
 Payments and Sundry Debtors 
 Insurance and Risk Management 
 Benefits Administration 
 Council Tax Collection 
 Local and Cumbria Wide Strategic Partnerships 
 Relationships with Government Departments and other relevant authorities at a sub-

regional, regional and national level

Page 51

Item No.8



Medium Term Financial Strategy

The draft Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), which includes the Council’s Financial 
Strategy, looks at projected income and expenditure over the next five years.  Council 
approved the last complete draft in July 2017. The updated position was included in the Budget 
Report considered by Council on the 27 February 2018. The plan highlights the uncertainty 
around future funding since the planned 100% localisation of business rates has been deferred 
by the Government but the Fair Funding review, which will determine how much business rate 
income will be retained by the Council in the future to fund services, appears to be continuing.  
The assumptions and financial projections within the MTFP are kept under continuous review. 
The next complete update of the MTFP is planned for July 2018. 

Procurement Strategy

The Council’s Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 2016-2019 sets the 
framework for South Lakeland District Council (‘the Council’) to purchase goods, services, and 
works to deliver value for money and to meet the needs of local citizens. It incorporates the 
most appropriate elements of best practice in structure, policy and procedure, and will remain 
sufficiently flexible to respond to both internal and external change.  Council approved a 
Procurement Schedule as part of the budget papers in February 2018. This delivers Council 
services in accordance with the Procurement Strategy.  Any proposed changes to the 
schedule will be reported as part of the Corporate Financial Monitoring process to Overview 
and Scrutiny, Cabinet and Council.  

Strategic Finance

Officers prepared the Council’s statutory accounts, the Statement of Accounts, by the end of 
May 2017.  This is a month earlier than in previous years and was an opportunity to prove the 
timetable was achievable before the statutory deadline for preparation moves to May from 
2017/18 accounts onwards.  The external audit of the 2016/17 accounts has been completed 
and considered by and reported to the September Audit Committee. The outcome was 
extremely positive both with regard to the quality of the accounts and the Value for Money the 
Council is judged to be delivering. For the 2017/18 accounts the external audit must be 
concluded by the end of July.  

Budget Monitoring and Treasury Mangement 

Although budget monitoring continues all year, the composite Corporate Financial Monitoring 
report commences from Quarter 2. Quarters 2 and 3 have considered by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet during the year. Both Revenue and Capital show significant 
underspends but the majority relate to budgets carried forward to the current financial year by 
Council in May 2017, and future carry forwards. 

Capital Programme

The MTFP includes a Capital Strategy which sets out the sources of funding of capital 
expenditure, any restrictions on how that funding should be applied and the process for 
considering new bids for the capital programme.  All schemes in the existing programme were 
reviewed as part of the budget process to ensure they continue to reflect the Council Plan 
priorities.

Page 52



Savings Programme

The majority of the savings incorporated into the budget for 2017/18 and later years relate to 
the Customer Connect programme.  Progress in delivering these and other savings is 
incorporated into the Corporate Financial Monitoring and Budget reports.

Revenue and Benefits/ Benefit Administration 

The Revenue’s and Benefits Service has replaced the back office Capita Software which has 
now gone live. The annual billing has been completed utilising the new software with the 
support of Capita.The second phase of the project will be to deliver a digital solution for 
residents which is due to implemented over the next 6 months. The second phase will allow 
residents to access their information and records on-line. A full set of interactive processes 
will also be available including the ability for customers to make arrangements, apply for 
discounts and notify changes in circumstance electronically direct into our new back office 
systems. 

The benefits team continued to perform at a high level right up to the implementation of the 
new software. Both New Claims and Changes in Circumstances for both Housing Benefit and 
Council Tax Reduction being processed within the target times contained in the service plan. 
The downtime and software change coupled with year-end has lead to inevitable slowing in 
the processing times. This should be caught in the next couple of months.

The rollout of Universal Credit has been suspended until the full live service is in place. This 
means the service are currently receiving new claims for Housing Benefits from all new 
claimants.

The full live Service Roll-out in South Lakeland is July 2018 (Western Areas served by Barrow 
Job Centre Plus) and September 2018 for the rest of the district.

Council Tax Collection and NNDR Collection 

Council Tax collection at the end of Q3 was ahead of target at 86.18% for the first 9 months 
of the year, last year was 86.14%. This result is very positive given the work been undertaken 
on the software conversion. 

There has been a continued increase in the number of businesses paying business rates over 
12 months rather than 10. 

The Small Business Relief Scheme and Pub Relief Scheme has been fully implemented and 
customers rebilled. The council Discretionary scheme has seen over £300k of additional 
support being provided to businesses in South Lakeland. A reminder has issued to those 
businesses who have yet to apply for this support.

Fraud

The Council remains pro-active in tackling fraud, all new starters to the Council are required 
to undertake Fraud training as part of the induction process and the team is working across 
various deaprtments to put anti-fraud measures in place.  This involves working closely with 
the DWP on Housing Benefit fraud and being actively involved in prosecuting fraud arising 
from the Flood Resillence Grant Scheme.  The Council have also signed up to a joint working 
arrangement with DWP to prosecute Council Tax Reduction as part of a joint investigation and 
takes part in the Cabinet Office National Fraud Initative data matching exercises. 

Page 53



Fraud has achieved a number of successful prosecutions in relation to the Flood Grant 
Scheme. Fraud assist South Lakes Housing with RTB application checks in order to comply 
with Anti-Money Laundering responsibilities. In total from April 2017 to March 2018 38 cases 
were passed from South Lakes Housing to investigate each right to buy case to ensure buyers 
were eligible. The team have also investigated 7 cases of flood grant fraud over the past 12 
months which resulted in four non-payments of the grant and three prosecutions.

Local and Cumbria Wide Strategic Partnerships/ Relationships with Government 
Departments and other relevant authorities at a sub-regional, regional and national 
level

SLDC  have signed a partnership initiative with Barrow Borough Council and Lancaster City 
Council to create the Lancaster and South Cumbria Economic Region. The aim of this initiative 
is too work in partnership with the other authorities to identify and exploit opportunities for 
economic investment and growth across the Morecambe Bay Area. An action plan in in the 
course of being agreed. 

SLDC has proactively engaged with Cumbria County Council through a Joint Working Group 
with the aim to encourage and promote joint working between both authorities. 

I also sit on the Cumbria Leaders Board where issues effecting Cumbria are discussed and 
projects and support identified to support all the authorities in delivering targets. 

SLDC also continue to raise concerns to government offices on issues that cause concern for 
the district.

Page 54



South Lakeland District Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

20 April 2018
EXECUTIVE REPORT

REPORT FROM: Cllr Graham Vincent, Economy and Assets Portfolio Holder

Portfolio Responsibilities

The Council Plan objectives as they relate to the Portfolio area of work, and cross cutting work 
developed through the Local Plan and Economic Development Strategy. 

Working in partnership to ensure a thriving and prosperous District within the context of the 
wider sub-region, through effective economic development, regeneration and transport 
strategies. 

Working in partnership to ensure thriving and prosperous town centres throughout the district. 

Providing public realm infrastructure to promote the local economy. 

Promoting small businesses in both towns and rural areas. 

Policies, Plans and Strategies: 

 Economic Development Strategy 
 Asset Management Strategy 

Key Areas: 

 Economic Inward Investment 
 Business Support and Sector Development 
 Visitor Economy 
 Town Centre Planning, Car Parks and Transportation 
 Markets
 Asset Management 

Page 55

Item No.9



Economic Inward Investment 
The Economic Development team continue to work with a number of South Lakeland 
businesses that wanted to grow, and require larger premises. To date most of the preparatory 
work has been undertaken to hopefully see progress on some of the key employment 
allocations moving forward.

Some examples include: 

 The Herdy Company have now re-located within Kendal. Their new premises comprise 
a ground floor retail section, and on the first floor, administration, design, sales and 
export departments in a very modern lay out.

 The office development of AUK Ltd at Prizet Services will house the Head Quarters of 
the company, bringing new jobs into South Lakeland. 

 The new regional dealership for John Deere Tractors became operational at Junction 
36, Crooklands in December 2017, bringing thirty new jobs into the area.

 Kendal Nutricare has also secured a large order for the China market for its innovative 
healthy baby food ‘Kendamill’.  Securing this order will enable a further 25 jobs to be 
created at the Kendal site.

These successes demonstrate that a business focussed South Lakeland is becoming the area 
of choice for businesses to locate and grow. According to statistics provided by Nomis, in 2017 
there were 675 small businesses (employ between 10-49 people) based in South Lakeland. 
This supports SLDC’s aim to encourage businesses to start up in the area and develop. 

Estimates show that SLDC is on target to achieve the 1000 new jobs in the area by 2025. 
Since 1 January 2014 it is estimated that a total of 381 new jobs have been created within the 
district, of which 26 were created in the three quarter of 2017/18. 

Statistics show that the total number of visits to the Invest in South Lakeland website in 2016 
was 7,932 which is lower than the 10,969 visits in 2015.The website has now been rebuilt to 
create a new outward facing service that has a sharper focus on informing the investor as well 
as capturing much more detailed information about those engaging with it, allowing better 
engagement with potential investors.

SLDC are continuing to work with our partners in Barrow and Lancaster to create the 
Lancaster and South Cumbria Economic Partnership. This will strengthen the positon of our 
area for investment with the creation of a prospectus of opportunity and other activity in line 
with the recently signed ‘ Joint statement of intent’ to collaborate on economic development 
initiatives. According to the Cumbria Intelligence Observatory in 2017 80.6% of Cumbria’s 
population are economically active. Through the encouragement of this partnership this 
percentage should increase.  

Business Support, Sector Development and Visitor Economy 
The Grant Funding Agreement Contract with the Chamber of Commerce has delivered above 
the minimum outputs within the agreement and has so far offered support to over 50 
businesses over the last 18 months through their business start-up support scheme and 
Cumbria Growth Hub scheme.  

The ED team relaunched the business forum in September 2017 and these will now be held 
3 times a year as a way of engaging with our strategic employers.  The first forum was attended 
by over 20 businesses.

Page 56



A very successful sustainable energy conference was recently held in Kendal Town Hall and 
organised by Community Action For Susutainability (CAFS) .The event was opened by 
Ellergreen’s CEO Mark Cropper; other presenters were from Electricity NW, Quantum 
Strategy, and a speaker for Tesla Europe talking about battery storage.

In 2017 the reported number of business units within the district was 7385. By supporting 
industries and offering events to support businesses SLDC, in partnership with Lancaster and 
Barrow will aim to continue to increase this number. In total 3 business events were held in 
2017/18 quarter 2 and quarter which were supported by SLDC. Further work is underway to 
secure more events. 

Visitor Economy 

It is estimated that 18million visitors come to South Lakeland each year. 

A new business-led board for Bowness and Windermere Forward has been established, and 
a programme manager to support the Chairman, funded by SLDC (for 12 months at a fixed 
amount), was appointed in January 2018. It is expected that the Board will be self-supporting 
within 12 months’ time and will have delivered some early projects.

Public realm works on SLDC land on the Glebe shore front, delivered with the County Council, 
have now been completed with a £500k investment by the District Council. This has 
transformed the area around the Glebe and put in place the infrastructure needed to support 
a world class visitor destination.

The economic development team have been leading the application into the European 
Regional Development Fund (ERDF) for over £4.5m of additional monies to support flood 
defence works to protect businesses on the Mintsfeet Industrial Estate, the outcome of which 
will be known in the Summer of 2018.

Car Parks

The cash collection has now moved to a purpose built office in Kendal,  which was previously 
operated from Langston House, Windermere. This has allowed changes to the existing 
collection arrangements making them more focused and efficient. 

A number of parking incentives have been trialed. These incentives included a number of 
longer opening trials, an ‘early bird’ offer at Blackhall Road and the existing early bird offer at 
the Westmorland Shopping Centre in Kendal being reduced further in price. Except for the 
longer opening hours, the offers have been well received by users and whilst income at the 
offer sites has fallen, the overall parking account has seen growth in terms of ticket sales and 
income across the combined parking sites. On 1 April 2018 a trial of an early bird offer has 
begun at car parks  in Windermere, Ambleside and Grange over sands commenced. 

In  2018/19 the Parking Department is planning to develop new parking offers avaliable in 
Kendal and work with partners to secure public parking at the Kendal Snow Sports Club site 
and also to return 100% of all monies collected (after costs) to the Club to allow them to 
develop further.  Consideration is currently being given to how this model could be 
incorporated at other sites in the District.

Additionally a location for a new Car Park has been identified within Kendal, off Parkside road 
on land which is owned by the District Council. Plans are already advanced to secure the 
development and planning permission is being sought. It is hoped that this car park facility will 
be open to users in late summer 2018.

Page 57



A District Wide Strategic review of all the parking assets is planned for 2018/19 and this will 
include consideration of other parking sites that may become available during the coming 
years and how these can be best serviced to increase the parking offer within the District.

Markets 
Traditionally the markets (indoor and outdoor) have been at the heart of the retail offering of 
Kendal town centre which has much to be proud of in terms of the mix of retail units, with many 
unique independent, locally owned and operated shops, and as such has a feel which is 
distinct from many towns where national brands dominate the high street. There is evidence 
that in some locations, the demand for and attraction of, out-of-town shopping centres is 
cooling, and the ‘leisure seeking shopper’ is being drawn back to traditional town centres that 
offer attractive mixed leisure and retail, within a built environment that includes attractive older 
centres. This blend of old and new, within regenerated centres is providing opportunities to 
dwell longer with visitors being attracted by the destination and overall experience. 

SLDC are continuing to look at critical success factors or other popular markets within the 
North West in order to learn from them to improve the offer and, in turn, rejuvenate the market 
with support from our property service providers, Lambert Smith Hampton (LSH). 

South Lakeland District Council sees the markets as an important and integral part of Kendal 
Town Centre and the work currently being undertaken is to help turn the market into a popular 
visitor destination.  

Asset Management 
The proposed asset review is in the process of being completed and a strong working 
relationship is being formed between the new property service provider, the legal and asset 
management department. As part of the review, detailed work is ongoing around South 
Lakeland House, Kendal and Ulverston Depot and some of our key car parking sites. The work 
on the property asset review will look to link in with our Economic priority  and we will when 
opportunities present themselves make best use of our property portfolio to support economic 
growth, through the use of our current and future asset base.

Page 58



South Lakeland District Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Friday, 20 April 2018
DRAFT SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

CHAIRMAN: Cllr Dyan Jones – Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

REPORT FROM: Debbie Storr – Director of Policy and Resources 
(Monitoring Officer)

REPORT AUTHOR: Jason Habbershon – Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer

WARDS: (All Wards);

FORWARD PLAN: Not applicable

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME
1.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be able to demonstrate the work that it 

has undertaken and the value it has added during 2017/18 and outline the work 
planned for 2018/19.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION
2.1 It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee approves the 

draft Scrutiny Annual Report 2017/18, as attached at Appendix 1, for referral to 
Council, subject to any relevant updates arising following this meeting

3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS
3.1 Article 6 (Overview and Scrutiny) of the Council’s Constitution requires that the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee must report annually to Council on its work, with 
recommendations for its future work programme and any amended working methods, 
if appropriate.

3.2 The Scrutiny Annual Report 2017/18 looks back at the work of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee over the past twelve months, as well as looking forward to the 
year ahead. The report demonstrates that effective scrutiny is taking place, in line 
with good governance, but that more precise timetabling of reviews would be 
beneficial in ensuring that resources can be allocated to ensure that the work 
programme can be completed on time.

3.3 It is anticipated that, subject to the approval of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
the final Scrutiny Annual Report 2017/18 will be presented to Council at its Annual 
meeting on 22 May 2018. Those areas of the report highlighted in yellow will be 
updated, in consultation with the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
prior to its submission for Council.

3.4 Each year a review is undertaken of the effectiveness of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. Since 2017 the scrutiny effectiveness review has used a checklist 
framework based upon that used by the Audit Committee. The Review of 
Effectiveness 2017/2018 can be found elsewhere on the agenda.

Page 59

Item No.10



4.0 CONSULTATION
4.1 The Scrutiny Annual Report has been produced in consultation with the Chairman 

and Vice-Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
5.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is required by the Council’s Constitution to 

produce an annual report. Members could choose to amend the content of the report 
prior to its consideration by Council in May 2018.

6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES
6.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s broad remit and varied work programme 

means that its work often links to all of the priorities and targets set out within the 
current Council Plan.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS
7.1 Financial and Resources
7.1.1 There are no financial or resource implications arising from this report. The work 

undertaken by scrutiny needs to provide value for money and make the best use of 
available resources.

7.2 Human Resources
7.2.1 There are no staffing implications arising from this report.

7.3 Legal
7.3.1 There is a legal requirement for local authorities to operate an overview and scrutiny 

committee. The committee needs to be effective in its role.

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
Have you completed and Health, Social, 
Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment?

Yes ☐ No ☒

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons.

This is a look back at the work 
undertaken over the past twelve months.

7.5 Equality and Diversity
Have you completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis?

Yes ☐ No ☒

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons.

This is a look back at the work 
undertaken over the past twelve months.

7.6 Risk
Risk Consequence Controls required
An annual report is not 
produced.

Failure to maintain 
constitutional 
requirements. The 
opportunity to consider 
and promote the work of 
the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is lost.

A comprehensive and 
timely annual report is 
produced.

Page 60



CONTACT OFFICERS
Jason Habbershon, Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer, jason.habbershon@southlakeland.gov.uk 

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT
Appendix No.
1 Scrutiny Annual Report 2017/18

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE
None.

TRACKING INFORMATION
Assistant 
Director

Portfolio Holder Solicitor to the 
Council

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee

23/03/2018 N/a 23/03/2018 29/03/2018 20/04/2018

Executive 
(Cabinet)

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer

Monitoring 
Officer

N/a N/a 22/05/2018 23/03/2018 23/03/2018

Human 
Resources 
Manager

Leader Ward 
Councillor(s)

Comms Chairman of 
O&S Committee

N/a N/a N/a N/a 22/03/2018

Page 61

mailto:jason.habbershon@southlakeland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 62



SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

Contents

Chairman’s foreword ............................................................................................................2

Introduction...........................................................................................................................2

Year in Review: Overview and Scrutiny 2017/18 .................................................................3

Looking ahead to 2018/19....................................................................................................4

Scrutiny Contact Details .......................................................................................................4

Appendix 1

Page 63



Chairman’s foreword

An important aspect of Overview & Scrutiny’s role is to support, challenge and maximise the 
effectiveness of South Lakeland District Council and its working relationship with partners 
across the local and wider communities it serves.

2017/18 has been a year of growth and success in many areas as noted within this report, 
and although the role of Overview & Scrutiny has experienced some changes this year, I am 
pleased it continues its ambition to be proactive, adding value in its ability to make a positive 
contribution to work throughout the district.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank Overview & Scrutiny members, officers and all 
South Lakeland District Council partners for their important commitment and contribution 
over the past year, ensuring our district continues its aim “to make South Lakeland the best 
place to live, work and explore”.

Councillor Dyan Jones, Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Introduction

Welcome to the Scrutiny Annual Report for South Lakeland District Council (SLDC). The 
report sets out the work of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee between May 2017 and 
April 2018.

Scrutiny is a key tool for promoting the best interests and wellbeing of the area and seeks to 
ensure that local people receive high quality services that meet their needs. The Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee does this by acting as a ‘critical friend’ to the Cabinet, holding it to 
account and providing challenge where necessary. Scrutiny also plays a key role in the 
areas of policy review and development; by considering topics such as the Joint Older 
Persons’ Housing Strategy and the updated Council Plan at an early stage in their 
development, scrutiny can add real value before a final decision is made by Cabinet.

Amongst the roles of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee set out within the Council’s 
Constitution is an opportunity for scrutiny to “consider any matters which affects the 
Council’s area or its communities”. This theme has been constant throughout the work of 
scrutiny and inviting partners to attend reviews and meetings to provide a broader 
perspective, reflecting the Council’s wider reach as leader in the district, has become 
increasingly valued.

This year was the first following the dissolution of the Performance Sub-Committee. The 
effects of this change continue to be monitored, with minor changes to reporting methods 
having been taken during the course of the year to ensure that the responsibilities 
transferred back to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee continue to be carried out as 
effectively as possible. The move has been a positive one, with the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee taking full ownership of its returned monitoring responsibilities.

Page 64



Last year’s Scrutiny Annual Report made reference to a Communities and Local 
Government (CLG) Select Committee inquiry into “Overview and Scrutiny in Local 
Government”. Despite being temporarily halted by the General Election in June, the CLG 
Select Committee published its recommendations in December 2017, with a Government 
response following in March 2018. The revised Government guidance arising from this 
inquiry will no doubt be studied closely by scrutiny committees across the country in the year 
to come.

As the value of South Lakeland District Council’s scrutiny function becomes increasingly well 
recognised both internally and externally, its ability to make a difference to the work of the 
Council and to residents becomes ever stronger. An effective, balanced and timely 2018/19 
Work Programme will continue to further the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s work to 
assist the Council in realising its ultimate aim “to make South Lakeland the best place to live, 
work and explore.”

Overview and Scrutiny Committee Membership
Norman Bishop-Rowe
Andrew Butcher
Brian Cooper
Nick Cotton
Shirley Evans
Anne Hall
Dyan Jones (Chairman)
Eric Morrell
Vivienne Rees (Representative to the Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee)
Phil Walker (Vice-Chairman)
Mark Wilson
Mary Wilson

Year in Review: Overview and Scrutiny 2017/18

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee met seven times between May 2017 and April 2018. 
In addition to the six scheduled meetings of the Committee, an additional meeting was called 
to consider the call-in of an executive decision relating to the common land at New Road, 
Kendal.

The Committee considered a wide variety of subjects over the course of those seven 
meetings, including the Council’s draft budget, the draft Joint Older Persons’ Strategy and an 
update from the South Lakeland Leisure Partnership.

The South Cumbria Community Safety Partnership (CSP) updated the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on its work at a meeting in February 2018. Superintendent Rob 
O’Connor (Cumbria Constabulary) was in attendance and was able to answer a wide variety 
of queries from Members. Recognising the value of the updates from CSP, the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee has asked that these now take place twice yearly. This is scheduled 
to begin from the new council year, with updates expected to take place at meetings in 
October 2018 and April 2019.

Page 65



Older Persons’ Housing Strategy Task and Finish Group (March to December 2017)

The Older Persons’ Housing Strategy Task and Finish Group worked with officers in the 
development of a new Joint Older Persons’ Housing Strategy for Eden and South Lakeland 
District Councils. The task and finish group met four times between March and December 
2017, including a workshop-style event which saw attendees from both district councils, 
Cumbria County Council and registered housing providers share ideas about how to address 
the issue of housing for older people in both South Lakeland and Eden. At its final meeting in 
December 2017, the Older Persons’ Housing Strategy Task and Finish Group agreed to 
endorse the refreshed strategy and recommend it to Cabinet. This was agreed by Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee in February 2018, with the Joint Older Persons’ Housing Strategy 
being formally adopted by Cabinet on 21 March 2018.

Review of Active Travel Workshop (21 July 2017)

The Review of Active Travel offered Members an opportunity to share their views on the 
Council’s current work regarding active travel (e.g. walking and cycling) and to provide ideas 
for future working in this area. The Environment Portfolio Holder, officers from the Active 
Travel Working Group and a representative of British Cycling were in attendance at the 
session. At the session, Members endorsed the existing Active Travel Position Statement 
and Action Plan and proposed a number of key points for Cabinet to consider, including 
further investigation into greater joined-up working, cross-boundary partnership work and an 
emphasis on developing a culture of active travel amongst young people.

Asset Management Strategy Workshop (12 April 2018)

The Asset Management Strategy Workshop has been commissioned by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to assist officers and the Council’s property services contractors, 
LambertSmithHampton, in developing a strategic plan for the Council’s assets. The 
Workshop was held on 12 April 2018 and recommended ***

Effectiveness of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee should be an effective committee that can contribute 
to the development of Council policies and also hold the Cabinet to account for its decisions. 
Overview and scrutiny should be carried out in a constructive way which contributes to the 
efficient and effective service delivery which meets the needs and aspirations of the people 
of South Lakeland. As such, an annual review is undertaken to ensure that the work of 
scrutiny continues to be effective. Since 2016/17, the annual Review of Effectiveness has 
mirrored the checklist methodology of the Audit Committee’s own effectiveness review.

The review concluded that the Committee continues to operative effectively in its overview 
and scrutiny role, but that more precise timetabling of reviews would be beneficial in 
ensuring that the work programme can be adequately addressed.

Page 66



Call-in and Urgency Provisions

The call-in process may be used to challenge Executive decisions. Call-ins are only to be 
used on an exceptional basis in line with paragraph 16 (a) to (i) of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules. 

One call-in has been received during 2017/18. This was in relation to Cabinet Executive 
Decisions CEX/38 (New Road – Common Land) and CEX/39 (New Road - Common Land - 
Vision for landscaping) made at the Cabinet meeting on Wednesday, 30 August 2017. An 
additional meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee was called on 15 September 
2017 to consider the call-in. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee resolved to accept the 
original decisions made by Cabinet.

Looking Ahead to 2018/19

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed its work programme for 2018/19 at its 
meeting on Friday, 20 April 2018. The topics selected for review are:- ***

With Customer Connect progressing apace, the Council’s new ward arrangements taking 
effect, and the release of the Government’s revised scrutiny guidance, the 2018/19 council 
year will no doubt prove to be a year of change for scrutiny at South Lakeland. But this 
change should be seen as an opportunity for scrutiny to realign its focus and to emphasise 
its unique ability within local government to look strategically at topics which affect the area. 
Scrutiny will do this whilst continuing to utilise partnership working, building networks and 
relationships and maximising evidence gathering in a way few other committees could.

Scrutiny Contact Details

Jason Habbershon
Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer
01539 733333 scrutiny@southlakeland.gov.uk 

More information on the scrutiny function, including agendas, minutes ongoing review work 
and councillor details can be found on the Council’s website: www.southlakeland.gov.uk 

Page 67

mailto:scrutiny@southlakeland.gov.uk
http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 68



South Lakeland District Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Friday, 20 April 2018
Review of Effectiveness and Scrutiny 
Recommendations Progress Report

CHAIRMAN: Councillor Dyan Jones – Chairman of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

REPORT FROM: Debbie Storr - Director of Policy and Resources 
(Monitoring Officer)

REPORT AUTHOR: Jason Habbershon – Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer

WARDS: Not applicable

FORWARD PLAN: Not applicable

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME
1.1 By monitoring both the effectiveness of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 

the progress made by Cabinet and officers in implementing the recommendations 
made by the Committee, Members are able to ensure that maximum value is added 
by scrutiny and also retain sight of proposals and outcomes. The regular reviewing of 
recommendations made by Members will also ensure that the effectiveness of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee is both maintained and monitored.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION
2.1 It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee notes the 

following:-
(1) the findings of the Review of Effectiveness, as attached at Appendix 1; 

and
(2) the progress made by Cabinet in implementing the recommendations of 

the Committee.
3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS

Review of Effectiveness
3.1 Each year a review is undertaken of the effectiveness of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee. Since 2016/17 this review of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has 
used a similar checklist framework to that used by the Audit Committee. This 
effectiveness checklist is included as Appendix 1 to this report.

3.2 The review concludes that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has continued to be 
effective over the past 12 months. Despite this, more precise timetabling of reviews 
in the future would be beneficial in ensuring that resources can be allocated to 
ensure that the work programme can be completed on time. There are no other 
recommendations arising from the review of effectiveness.

Page 69

Item No.11



Scrutiny Recommendations Progress
3.2 Monitoring the progress of recommendations made by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee to decision-makers is an important part of effective governance. In 
addition to these biannual reports, the Committee receive verbal updates at meetings 
throughout the year during consideration of the latest Work Programme.

3.3 During 2017/18, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has presented two formal 
reports to Cabinet: Outcomes of the Review of Active Travel (CEX/84) and a task 
and finish group report contained within South Lakeland District Council and Eden 
District Council Joint Older Persons’ Housing Strategy 2018 – 2025 (CEX/124). The 
recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee were agreed by Cabinet.

Review of Active Travel

3.4 The Review of Active Travel Workshop was held on Friday, 21 July 2017 which 
resulted in a number of recommendations for Cabinet. At the session, Members 
endorsed the existing Active Travel Position Statement and Action Plan and 
proposed a number of key points for Cabinet to consider, including further 
investigation into greater joined-up working, cross-boundary partnership work and an 
emphasis on developing a culture of active travel amongst young people. The Active 
Travel Working Group is considering these points, however due to their long-term 
nature there is no direct update to provide at this time. The Committee will be 
updated on progress through the relevant portfolio holder report.

Joint Older Persons’ Housing Strategy

3.5 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee commissioned a task and finish group to 
support the review of the Joint Older Persons’ Housing Strategy throughout much of 
the year. The final report of the Older Persons’ Housing Strategy Task and Finish 
Group was considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee alongside the draft 
updated Strategy at its meeting in February 2018. Cabinet approved the 
recommendations of the task and finish group and adopted the new Joint Older 
Persons’ Housing Strategy at its meeting on Wednesday, 21 March 2018. Further 
updates will be provided during the coming year.

Other recommendations made by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

3.6 In addition to the formal recommendations made by the Committee, a number of 
comments and/or suggestions were raised throughout various items considered at 
committee meetings. In situations where these comments were raised against 
executive items, these comments were highlighted during consideration by Cabinet. 
Other changes requested of officers, for example in relation to grammatical or 
presentational issues, are typically taken into account before the item is presented to 
Cabinet. Portfolio Holders have shown a strong commitment to the scrutiny process 
over the past twelve months.

4.0 CONSULTATION
4.1 The proposals have been considered by the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Council’s Senior Management Team. 

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
5.1 This report is to note. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee could choose not to 

undertake regular monitoring of its effectiveness or the recommendations that it has 
made. This is not recommended, as the Committee will have no sight of its 
recommendations after they have been made.

5.2 Should the Committee feel that its recommendations are not being progressed 
adequately it could request more regular updates from the relevant decision-maker.

Page 70



6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES
6.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s broad remit and varied work programme 

means that its work often links to all of the priorities and targets set out within the 
current Council Plan.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS
7.1 Financial and Resources
7.1.1 There are no direct financial or resource implications arising from this report. The 

report provides an update on the implementation of previously agreed 
recommendations. 

7.2 Human Resources
7.2.1 There are no staffing implications arising from this report. The report sets out a 

review of previous work and updates on the implementation of previously agreed 
recommendations. 

7.3 Legal
7.3.1 There is a legal requirement for local authorities to operate an overview and scrutiny 

committee. The committee needs to be effective in its role. This report provides an 
update on the implementation of previously agreed recommendations.

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
Have you completed and Health, Social, 
Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment?

Yes ☐ No ☒

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons.

There are no implications arising from this 
report.

7.5 Equality and Diversity
Have you completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis?

Yes ☐ No ☒

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons.

There are no implications arising from this 
report.

7.6 Risk
Risk Consequence Controls required
That the Council’s scrutiny 
arrangements are 
ineffective or inefficient.

The scrutiny work 
undertaken does not add 
as much value as it 
should. Areas where 
scrutiny is required are 
missed.

An effective overview and 
scrutiny function, reviewed 
regularly, is put in 
operation.

CONTACT OFFICERS
Jason Habbershon, Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer, jason.habbershon@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Page 71

mailto:jason.habbershon@southlakeland.gov.uk


APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT
Appendix No.
1 Review of Effectiveness

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE
Name of Background 
document

Where it is available

Proposals from the Review of 
Active Travel

 https://tinyurl.com/y9p2ey4x 

Older Persons’ Housing Strategy 
Task and Finish Group Report

https://tinyurl.com/y9hqqonq 

TRACKING INFORMATION
Assistant 
Director

Portfolio Holder Solicitor to the 
Council

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee

23/03/2018 N/a 23/03/2018 29/03/2018 20/04/2018

Executive 
(Cabinet)

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer

Monitoring 
Officer

N/a N/a N/a 23/03/2018 23/03/2018

Human 
Resources 
Manager

Leader Ward 
Councillor(s)

Comms Team Chairman of the 
O&S Committee

N/a N/a N/a N/a 29/03/2018

Page 72

https://tinyurl.com/y9p2ey4x
https://tinyurl.com/y9hqqonq


EFFECTIVENESS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 2017/18
Appendix 1

ISSUE YES NO N/A Comment

1
Does the authority have a dedicated Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee? 

2

Do the terms of reference clearly set out the purpose of 
the committee? 

  Terms of reference are 
reviewed annually by 
Council and at the first 
meeting of the Committee.

3
Does the committee fulfil the statutory requirements 
surrounding the local authority scrutiny arrangements? 

   

4

Does the Overview and Scrutiny Committee report 
directly to Cabinet and/or full Council?



Scrutiny Annual Review 
considered at AGM.
Recommendations are made 
to Cabinet or Council as 
appropriate.

5
Does the Overview and Scrutiny Committee provide 
support to the authority in meeting the requirements of 
good governance?



6
Does it use that power to challenge the 
Executive/Committees? 

  

7

Is an annual evaluation undertaken to assess whether 
the committee is fulfilling its terms of reference and that 
adequate consideration has been given to all core 
areas?



This report.

8
Has an effective committee structure and composition 
of the committee been selected? This should include:

i. separation from the executive



No Members of the 
Executive sit on the 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

ii. politically balanced membership


iii. an appropriate mix of knowledge and skills 
among the membership 

iv. size of committee that is not unwieldy



12 member committee is in 
line with other scrutiny 
committees within Cumbria 
(ranging 7 – 14 Members).

v. where co-opted members are used, that they 
have been appointed using an appropriate 
process


All members of the 
committee are currently 
elected members of SLDC.

9
Does the chair of the committee have appropriate 
knowledge and skills? 

10

Are arrangements in place to support the committee 
with briefings and training? 

Training offered annually. 
Committee Services/Scrutiny 
Officer provides support to 
the committee.

11

Does the committee have good working relationships 
with key people and organisations, including the 
executive and management team? 

Regular attendance at 
committee meetings from 
both executive and 
management team.

12

Does the committee plan its work in order to ensure 
best value added?



The O&S Work Programme 
and Forward Plan are 
considered at each meeting 
in order to ensure that items 
of value are identified.

13
Does the Committee meet regularly to a planned 
timetable and work schedule? 

   

Page 73



ISSUE YES NO N/A Comment

14

Are meetings free and open without political influences 
being displayed and are agenda papers available to 
members of the public?



  Members are required to 
declare any party whip to 
which they are subject. The 
Committee membership is 
politically balanced. There 
have been no Part II items in 
the past 12 months.

15

Are decisions reached promptly?



  No items have been 
deferred. Additional 
meetings were arranged in 
August and February to 
ensure decisions could be 
made to schedule.

16
Are agenda papers circulated in advance of meetings 
to allow adequate preparation by Members? 

   As per legislation.

17

Does the Committee have the benefit of appropriate 
officers at its meetings? 

  Report authors, operational 
managers and senior 
management present at all 
meetings.

18

Have all Portfolio Holders attended a meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee in the past year? 

Six of seven portfolio holders 
have presented their reports 
to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

19
Does a member of the Senior Management Team and 
a member the Council’s Executive attend all meetings? 

   

20

Does the committee take a role in:
 risk management
 performance monitoring
 financial monitoring and budget scrutiny
 holding Portfolio Holders to account



   

21
Has the committee used pre-decision scrutiny? 



22
Have the relevant performance monitoring reports 
been considered promptly? 

Yes, all monitoring reports 
received as scheduled.

23
Has the committee been involved in early policy 
development? 

24

Has the committee been provided with updates on the 
progress of its recommendations? 

Progress reports have been 
presented to O&S at 
meetings in October and 
April.

25

Have the committee’s recommendations been 
accepted by Cabinet? 

Comments and 
recommendations made by 
O&S have been taken on 
board by Cabinet.

26
Has the committee evaluated whether and how it is 
adding value to the organisation? 

Through the committee’s 
annual report.

27
Can the committee access other committees and call 
officers to account as necessary? 

 

28
Is the role and purpose of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee understood and accepted across the 
authority?


Training is offered on an 
annual basis to all Members 
and senior officers.

29
Is adequate secretarial and administrative support to 
the committee provided? 

Page 74



South Lakeland District Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Friday, 20 April 2018
Work Programme Setting 2018/19

PORTFOLIO: Councillor Dyan Jones – Chairman of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

REPORT FROM: Debbie Storr - Director of Policy and Resources 
(Monitoring Officer)

REPORT AUTHOR: Jason Habbershon – Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer

WARDS: (All Wards);

FORWARD PLAN: Not applicable

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME
1.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s Work Programme for 2018/19 makes 

effective use of resources and adds significant strategic value to the work of the 
Council in line with its local priorities.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION
2.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is requested to consider and agree its 

2018/19 Work Programme.
3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS
3.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has the power to review or scrutinise 

decisions made, or actions taken, in connection with the discharge of any of the 
Council’s functions. It also has power to make recommendations to the Council or 
cabinet, and to consider any matters which affect the Council’s area or its 
communities. The Committee also plays an important role in policy development and 
review.

3.2 As part of these responsibilities, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee sets an 
annual work programme at its meeting in April of each year. The work programme 
ensures that the Committee is able to focus on those areas where it is likely to add 
the most value. It can do this through its formal meetings, through one-day 
workshops or through the work of task and finish groups.

3.3 Prioritisation is vital to ensure that there are sufficient resources to allow the work 
programme planning to take place and to ensure that the work programme is 
supported throughout 2017/18. A Local Government Information Unit article on 
‘Making scrutiny count’, suggests that “one major scrutiny and perhaps two shorter 
reviews in the course of a year is realistic.” 

3.4 Submissions for topics were invited from all district councillors, SLDC Senior 
Management Team and operational managers, parish and town councils and 
external partner organisations. The request for topics was also placed on the online 
‘Have Your Say’ consultation hub and the SLDC website.

Page 75

Item No.12



3.5 Nine topics were submitted during the consultation phase, with a further two 
proposals having been raised at meetings during the year. These are attached for 
consideration at Appendix 2. Two items from the current 2017/18 Work Programme 
are outstanding and are also included within the items for consideration at Appendix 
2.

3.6 The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the 
Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer and the Council’s Senior Management Team 
conducted an initial prioritisation of the topics submitted. Their thoughts are included 
within Appendix 1.

3.7 Throughout the past two years, the quarterly Council Plan Performance Monitoring 
reports have indicated that the Council is performing well in its key priorities. In light 
of the planned Council Plan refresh in 2019 and the Council’s wide-ranging digital 
transformation project Customer Connect, Overview and Scrutiny Committee has a 
great opportunity to realign its focus and take a strategic approach to its Work 
Programme, with the possibility of fewer, broader and future-looking reviews 
providing much greater added value than might be the case for more numerous but 
specific and smaller-scale reviews.

3.8 Partnership working, and particularly the engagement of partners through reviews, 
has been recognised as increasingly important amongst members. This is something 
that will continue to be encouraged throughout the work of the upcoming year.

4.0 CONSULTATION
4.1 Submissions for topics were invited from all district councillors, Senior Management 

Team, operational managers, parish and town councils and external partner 
organisations. The request for topics was also placed on the online ‘Have Your Say’ 
consultation hub and through the Council’s website.

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
5.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee could opt not to use a structured work 

programme. This is not recommended, as for scrutiny to operate effectively there is 
need to ensure that the work it carries out is timely, will add value and that there are 
resources available for the work to be carried out.

6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES
6.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s broad remit and varied work programme 

means that its work often links to all of the priorities and targets set out within the 
current Council Plan. The links between each proposed topic and the Council’s 
priorities are set out above.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS
7.1 Financial and Resources
7.1.1 There are no direct financial or resource implications arising from this report. 

However, any work pursued needs to provide good value for money and ensure that 
best use is made of resources.

7.2 Human Resources
7.2.1 There are no direct staffing implications arising from this report. There is a need to 

ensure that there are sufficient resources to allow the work to be supported 
throughout 2018/19.

7.3 Legal
7.3.1 There is a legal requirement for local authorities to operate an overview and scrutiny 

committee. The committee needs to be effective in its role. By preparing a planned 

Page 76



work programme, the Committee can ensure that it has adequate time to properly 
consider those key areas where it can add greatest value. In turn, this will enable the 
Council to demonstrate that it has effective scrutiny arrangements in place.

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
Have you completed and Health, Social, 
Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment?

Yes ☐ No ☒

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons.

There are no implications arising from this 
report. Consideration will be given to any 
potential implications during reviews. 

7.5 Equality and Diversity
Have you completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis?

Yes ☐ No ☒

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons.

There are no implications arising from this 
report. Consideration will be given to any 
potential implications during reviews. 

7.6 Risk
Risk Consequence Controls required
The work programme 
does not add value.

Resources are wasted. Develop the work 
programme in line with 
strategic priorities and 
agreed criteria.

The work programme is 
not balanced effectively.

The work programme is 
not completed or the 
effectiveness of the 
planned work is reduced.

Regular reviewing of the 
work programme to 
ensure that the work will 
continue to add value in a 
timely manner.

CONTACT OFFICERS
Jason Habbershon, Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer, jason.habbershon@southlakeland.gov.uk 

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT 
Appendix No.
1 Commentary to submitted topics

2 Table of submitted topics

3 Work Planning Aid prioritisation tool

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE
None

Page 77

mailto:jason.habbershon@southlakeland.gov.uk


TRACKING INFORMATION
Assistant 
Director

Portfolio Holder Solicitor to the 
Council

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee

29/03/2018 N/a 20/03/2018 29/03/2018 20/04/2018

Executive 
(Cabinet)

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer

Monitoring 
Officer

N/a N/a N/a 29/03/2018 22/03/2018

Human 
Resources 
Manager

Leader Ward 
Councillor(s)

Comms Team Chairman of the 
O&S Committee

N/a N/a N/a N/a 22/03/2018

Page 78



COMMENTARY TO TOPICS SUGGESTED FOR 2018/19 WORK PROGRAMME

Recommendations:-

(1) The following reviews be carried out during 2018/19:-

(a) A strategic review of the Council’s health and wellbeing priority (to 
incorporate suggestions 4, 5, 7 and 11 below)

(b) Economic Growth Strategy (suggestion 2 below)

(c) Development of Locality Working through Customer Connect (Carried 
Forward from 2017/18) (suggestion 10 below)

(2) Consideration be given to a workshop being organised in 2019/20 for 
councillors and officers to carry out joint working to identify opportunities and 
concerns arising from the World Heritage Status inscription, feeding into the work of 
the National Park Partnership (suggestions 1 and 6 below)

(3) Consider inviting Cumbria County Council to provide an informal briefing 
session for all district council on the services available for parents and young people 
up to age 19 with an emphasis upon safeguarding, health and wellbeing of the child 
and “corporate parenting”, with the potential for this to feed into the proposed review 
of the SLDC health and wellbeing priority (suggestion 8 below)

(4) Seek an update from the portfolio holder responsible for the environment on 
the management of trees on SLDC-owned land as part of their portfolio holder report 
at a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee during 2018/19 (suggestion 3 
below)

Note – the recommendations above cover all proposed topics, with the exception of suggestion 9 
(SLDC Asset Review) which is currently scheduled for April 2018.

Comments to suggestions (in order of submission):-

1. The Effect of World Heritage Status on the Lake District (Low Priority)
o The World Heritage Status was confirmed in July 2017. The impact of this is unlikely to be 

measurable at this early stage, however a workshop could be useful in 2019/20 in which 
to provide an opportunity for joint working between councillors, officers and partners to 
identify opportunities and concerns in ensuring a sustainable community/economy in the 
National Park. 

2. Economic Growth Strategy (High Priority)
o A task and finish group running alongside the development of the Economic Growth 

Strategy could prove useful, as evidenced by the work of the Older Persons’ Housing 
Strategy Task and Finish Group during 2017/18. This provides a strategic outlook whilst 
supporting an internal review and could be especially timely given the publishing of the 
Industrial Strategy White Paper in November 2017 and link in with the production of the 
Local Industrial Strategy for Cumbria and the collaboration of councils across Morecambe 
Bay.

Appendix 1

Page 79



3. Management of Trees on Council Land (Reject – see above)
o This suggestion relates to trees on SLDC-owned land. This could be an area where O&S 

could request an update or some commitment from the Environment Portfolio Holder (or 
their equivalent) during the upcoming year, but perhaps lacks the strategic impact to be 
recommended for a full review.

4. Ulverston Clean Air Zone/Air Pollution in SLDC (Medium Priority – see above)
o Although these are two separate suggestions, both seek the same outcomes. The 

importance of these proposals is recognised, but this area could be better utilised by 
forming part of a wider review into the Council’s role in health and wellbeing throughout 
the district, or through the work of the Green Team.

5. Addiction and Health Awareness (Medium Priority – see above)
o The areas of this topic which are aligned with the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

could form part of a wider review into the Council’s role in health and wellbeing 
throughout the district.

6. National Park Partnership Working and Local Plan Ambitions (Reject – see above)
o The Council has an existing mechanism in place with the LDNPA for Members to meet 

with them as part of their process in developing their next Local Plan. The second 
meeting, to which all Members have been invited, is to be held on 27 March 2018.

7. Cross-Cutting Approach to Superageing Population (Medium Priority – see above)
o This is recognised as an issue of high importance for the district. In light of the 

complexities of this topic, carrying out a review of this magnitude without any preparatory 
work may be difficult and limit its effectiveness. However, this topic is closely linked to 
potential work around health and wellbeing and the economy, both of which could act as 
an introduction to the subject area with a view to a more specific review being set up in 
the future.

8. The Life of an SLDC Child 0 to 19 (Low Priority – see above)
o The vast majority of the services that apply to children aged between 0 and 19 are within 

the remit of Cumbria County Council (including adoption/fostering, Children and Families 
Services, the Publish Health 5 – 19 project etc.). There could be some merit in inviting 
Cumbria County Council to deliver an informal briefing/training session for all district 
councillors. This could be run alongside the proposed strategic review of the Council’s 
health and wellbeing priority.

9. SLDC Asset Review (Reject – already scheduled)
o This is already on the Work Programme and a workshop is scheduled for 

12 April 2018. The outcomes of the workshop will be reported to a future meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

10. Development of Locality Working through Customer Connect (Carried Forward) (High Priority)
o Customer Connect is one of the most significant projects the Council has undertaken, and 

locality working provides an ideal opportunity for councillors to help shape its delivery. It is 
recommended that this item be carried forward into the new Work Programme.

11. Access to Health and Leisure Activities for Older Residents (Carried Forward) (Medium Priority – 
see above)

o Although this was listed as a standalone item on the current work programme, as with a 
number of suggestions above, this could form a key part of a more strategic look at health 
and wellbeing. 

Page 80



TOPICS SUGGESTED FOR THE 2018/19 WORK PROGRAMME

Suggested Topic Council Plan Links Does this proposal relate 
to an SLDC function?

Expected outcome Suggested 
format

Timing of 
review?

Recommendations

(1) The Effect of World Heritage Status on the 
Lake District

Environment, Economy, Housing Yes Investigation into possible detrimental impact on housing, on local businesses 
being overtaken by larger chains and on the environment

Not specified Not specified Low Priority – 
suggested for inclusion 
on 2019/20 Work 
Programme

(2) Economic Growth Strategy Economy Yes, through the Council’s 
role in the economic 
development of the area. 
The current Economic 
Growth Strategy is due for 
a review during 2018/19.

An updated Economic Growth Strategy which takes account of the wider 
economic picture and growth strategies including the development of the 
Northern Powerhouse, the Industrial Strategy White Paper, Brexit and the 
potential benefits of a functional economic area consisting of South Lakeland, 
Barrow and Lancaster.

Task and finish 
group

Timed to coincide 
with the currently 
planned review of 
the strategy 
(currently summer 
2018).

High priority – include 
on Work Programme

(3) Kendal Town Council Management Cmttee have 
suggested that the management of trees on SLDC 
land be reviewed. We have received complaints 
about overgrown and unmanaged trees on your 
land.

Environment Yes Improved management of SLDC tree assets. Workshop No Low Priority – suggest 
seeking update as part 
of relevant portfolio 
holder report

(4) Clean Air Zone – Ulverston
Proposals:
•         to introduce pedestrianisation and a 20 mph 
limit in Ulverston town centre.
•         to take action against motorists “idling”, using 
existing powers to impose £20 on-the-spot fines, to 
be issued by traffic wardens
•         to mount a volunteer-led press campaign to 
publicise the scheme as well as involving schools to 
encourage the introduction of “walking buses” which 
in one experiment reduced NO2 by 20 per cent, and 
particulate matter, which causes most damage, by 
30 per cent (BBC TV's documentary Fighting for 
Air.)
It is believed that we must act quickly to reduce 
emissions in Ulverston now that we know how much 
damage they cause – 4,000 deaths per annum in 
the UK, compared to about 1700 from road 
accidents, plus other health effects including 
dementia and lifelong and irreparable damage to 
children's lungs.

The absence of vehicles in the centre 
would in itself create a more pleasant 
environment for people to shop, enjoy a 
coffee, or just chat, and may well 
inspire additions such as greenery in 
planters in the streets, maintained by 
volunteers, all of which meets the 
council's aim of appealing to both 
residents and visitors.
As well as leading to an overall 
improved quality of life, the Clean Air 
Zone could well help in attracting high-
quality jobs (possibly itself even 
creating some jobs - i.e. traffic 
warden(s) depending on the success of 
the plan to issue fines for 'idling') and 
retaining people in the area, meeting 
the council's aim, in the words of the 
chief executive, of making South 
Lakeland “the best place to live, work 
and explore.”

Yes, environmental health; 
culture and wellbeing

This scheme is expected to prevent premature deaths and other health effects, 
including dementia, cardiovascular disease, damage to any or all organs of the 
body caused by particulate matter and, perhaps most concerning, lifelong and 
irreversible damage to children's lungs.
This scheme could well encourage towns in other parts of Cumbria to propose 
their own Clean Air Zones. The Ulverston plan should not, however, be 
considered a pilot scheme as different approaches would be needed in, say, 
Kendal or Broughton, and as we now know more about the harmful effects of 
vehicle emissions, the situation is surely too urgent to wait for the results of any 
pilot schemes. Similarly, it is considered unnecessary to carry out feasibility 
studies to show us what we already know.
Studies already undertaken in other parts of the country and abroad on the effect 
on trading have shown that pedestrianisation increases footfall by up to 40 per 
cent (see addenda) and in one example an astonishing 162 per cent (although it 
should be noted that that area was extremely bleak and run-down to begin with.)  
The Ulverston scheme will improve health in ways other than  preventing lung 
damage, etc, as people will be obliged to walk at least from the car park to the 
shops (instead of parking outside them, on double yellow lines, as at present.)
This scheme would put Cumbria ahead of the curve, as calls for Clean Air Zones 
are expected to increase, and show that the council cares about the health of 
residents and visitors, as well as - due to the consequent reduction of CO2 
emissions – helping to mitigate climate change.

Workshop or task 
and finish group

A One-day 
Review or a Task 
and Finish Group, 
or both, as 
appropriate. This 
work is 
considered to be 
essential and 
urgent.

Medium Priority – 
suggested for inclusion 
as part of wider 
strategic review of 
health and wellbeing

(4a) Air Pollution in South Lakeland Environment The checking of air quality 
levels - where this takes 
place, how is it report and 
are any changes needed? 
Are any deaths connected 
to this problem?

This could form and shape resident opinion regarding future town centre 
developments e.g. park and ride or pedestrianisation. Might need to bring in 
legislation to fine vehicles who run on idle and pollute areas near schools?

Task and finish 
group

Not specified Medium Priority – 
suggested for inclusion 
as part of wider 
strategic review of 
health and wellbeing

(5) Addiction and Health Awareness Health and wellbeing The Council’s role in 
supporting health and 
wellbeing of residents.

A greater understanding of addiction and how the Council supports its residents 
through working with partners such as Cumbria County Council.

Workshop or task 
and finish group

Not specified Medium Priority – 
suggested for inclusion 
as part of wider 
strategic review of 
health and wellbeing

(6) National Park Partnership Working and Local 
Plan Ambitions

Housing, Environment and Economy Primarily partnership 
working 

Development of greater and more effective partnership working with the National 
Park Authorities, as well as better understanding of their ambitions in relation to 
the area, for example through their Local Plans.

Workshop No Reject – existing 
mechanism in place

(7) Cross-cutting approach to “Superageing 
South Lakeland”. How SLDC can include and plan 
for the needs to the “superagers”.

This links to all priorities of the Council 
Plan.

Housing, Planning, 
Economy, Health and 
Wellbeing, the 
Environment and Transport 
– could we find a co-
operative community 
model to suit?

Add value to future plans – start to show the territory we are headed for. Task and finish 
group

Possibly but it 
could also stand 
alone.

Medium Priority – 
suggested for inclusion 
as part of wider 
strategic review of 
health and wellbeing

(8) The Life of a South Lakeland Child 0 - 19 This links to all priorities Community Safety 
Partnership – safety for 
young people, child sexual 
exploitation drug use and 
online and digital dangers.

Councillors and officers -> parents to become more knowledgeable of the 
pressures on children.

Workshop No specific time. Low Priority – suggest 
briefing which could 
feed into wider health 
and wellbeing review.

Appendix 2

P
age 81



TOPICS SUGGESTED FOR THE 2018/19 WORK PROGRAMME

Suggested Topic Council Plan Links Does this proposal relate 
to an SLDC function?

Expected outcome Suggested 
format

Timing of 
review?

Recommendations

(9) SLDC Asset Review All All Possible “riches for all” e.g. more focused and value driven management of 
SLDC assets.

Task and finish 
group

Not specified Reject – this is already 
on the Work 
Programme

Outstanding Items on the 2017/18 Work Programme

(10) Development of Locality Working through 
Customer Connect

The proposal links closely with the 
Council Plan priorities and targets 
supported by the Customer Connect 
project.

The review would seek to 
create new ways to make a 
number of the Council’s 
current functions work 
together more efficiently 
and effectively.

The review will highlight possible ways of working within communities which can 
be developed as part of the Customer Connect project.

Task and finish 
group

The timing of this 
review will be 
dependent upon 
the roll-out of the 
Customer 
Connect project.

High Priority – carry 
forward into new Work 
Programme.

(11) Access to health and leisure activities for 
older residents
I am concerned that access to health-promoting 
activities for older people is patchy and inadequate, 
for both urban and rural residents. Currently elderly 
patients are bed-blocking the NHS, and social care 
at home is in funding crisis - there is a pressing 
need to help older people remain healthy and active 
for as long as possible by encouraging enjoyable 
physical and activity. In the last few years, we have 
seen the disappearance of most adult education 
classes and the continued closure of rural village 
halls, both places where activities were provided for 
elderly residents. Local bus services to Leisure 
Centres at Kendal and Ulverston are diminishing. A 
glance at the website programme for Kendal Leisure 
Centre shows a total offer of: one 50+ swimming 
session, all other activities open for all ages, many 
sessions being high intensity, eg aerobics. Two 
examples of targeted provision would be table 
tennis or badminton, recommended and appropriate 
activities - the Centre has no organized sessions to 
join, but small private table tennis and badminton 
clubs throughout the district parishes are over-
subscribed. A resident has commented to me that 
recent interaction with Leisure Centre Staff shows a 
company management unaligned to council policy, 
with no promotional acumen, and no age-related 
targets or funding. Most advertising is on Facebook 
or in the Leisure Centre, so not accessible to all. 
Sport England has substantial grants available for 
just such targeted developments, which don’t 
appear to have been taken up at all in South 
Lakeland.

It relates to the Public Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy and related targets:
“Continue to work in partnership with 
North Country Leisure to improve 
health, wellbeing and physical activity 
programmes that are accessible to all”.
It relates to Strategies for Active Travel 
– by foot and bike; there needs to be a 
sufficient level of fitness in the 
population to take up the active travel 
opportunities or they will remain the 
preserve of the already converted.
It relates to the Environment target of “ 
Best use of parks and open spaces”: at 
the moment there is praiseworthy 
improvement of individual parks and 
open spaces by the Open Spaces 
Team, but no overview or vision of how 
best to turn these into places that 
encourage older people to get active.

It relates to the partnership 
between SLDC and North 
Country Leisure, to the 
partnership between SLDC 
and local parishes through 
the Open Spaces Team, 
possibly more.

A district-wide plan and priorities for SLDC’s budget to address the gaps in 
provision.
A renegotiated agreement with North Country Leisure to improve, promote and 
monitor the uptake of activities by older people in Kendal and Ulverston
A named SLDC officer with the remit for sport and leisure activity development, 
in partnership with parishes and other local bodies, said remit to include grant 
applications to Sport England and similar bodies

Task and finish 
group

It would be useful 
to clarify SLDC 
thinking and policy 
to inform 
discussions on 
leisure uses at 
Grange Lido in the 
near future. It 
might tie in with 
renegotiation of 
annual contract or 
targets for North 
Country Leisure.

Medium Priority – 
suggested for inclusion 
as part of wider 
strategic review of 
health and wellbeing

Appendix 2

P
age 82



SLDC OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
WORK PLANNING AID 

Is this issue strategic and/or 
significant? 

Will scrutiny activity add value to 
the Council’s overall 
performance? 

Will the scrutiny activity lead to 
effective outcomes? 

Will this duplicate work being 
carried out elsewhere? 

Is this issue of concern to our 
partners or others? 

Is this an issue of community 
concern? 

Are there adequate resources to 
do this activity well? 

Is this scrutiny activity timely? 

High Priority Low Priority Reject 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

No 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

No 

No 

No 

No 

No 

No 

No 

Appendix 3

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 84


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Council Plan Performance Monitoring Quarter 4 2017/18
	Council Plan Performance Monitoring Quarter 4 2017-18 - Appendix 1

	8 Portfolio Holder Report - Finance
	9 Portfolio Holder Report - Economy and Assets
	10 Draft Scrutiny Annual Report 2017/18
	Draft Scrutiny Annual Report 2017/18 - Appendix 1

	11 Review of Effectiveness and Scrutiny Recommendations Progress Report
	Review of Effectiveness and Scrutiny Recommendations Progress Report - Appendix 1

	12 Work Programme Setting 2018/19
	Work Programme Setting 2018/19 - Appendix 1
	Work Programme Setting 2018/19 - Appendix 2
	Work Programme Setting 2018/19 - Appendix 3


